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Cautionary Information with Respect to 
Forward-Looking Statements
In addition to historical facts regarding Promise’s 
past performance, this annual report contains 
forward-looking statements, including plans and 
strategies that are based on the management’s 
current assumptions and beliefs in light of 
currently available information. Forward-
looking statements involve inherent risks and 
uncertainties, including, without limitation, 
risks associated with changes in the general 
economic conditions and business environment 
in Japan as well as changes to Japanese laws and 
regulations.
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Founding Spirit
Pursuing the ideals of consumer 
fi nance and aiming for the highest 
possible goals

The Promise Group’s 
Corporate Philosophy
Our Mission:
Support affl uent lifestyles and aim to be a 
trusted corporate citizen

Our Management:
Target appropriate profi t levels through 
effi cient management and seek to achieve  
sustainable growth

Our Actions:
Be appreciated by customers and cooperate 
with society to realize mutual harmony and 
benefi t together with employees

The Promise Vision
Our Goal is to Become 
a “Personal Main Bank.” 
To accomplish this, we will transform 
customer ties from a simple “lender–
borrower” relationship to a “utilize-and-
assist” relationship. We will use this 
relationship to extend advice and other 
forms of support involving fi nance that 
match the requirements of each customer.



Achieving the goals of the Business 
Structural Reform Plan will give the 
Promise Group a stable profi t structure 
in our consumer fi nance business. 
Above all, I want our Group to earn a 
reputation as an organization able to 
meet a broad spectrum of fi nancing 
needs while serving as a trusted 
member of society.

KEN KUBO
President and Representative Director,
Chief Executive Offi cer

To Our Shareholders and Investors

 

When I became president of Promise on November 1, 2009, the Promise Group 

was still struggling with the most diffi cult operating environment in its his-

tory. Conducting business operations with speed and foresight has never been 

more vital to our ability to succeed and grow.

     The Money Lending Business Law reached its full enforcement on June 18, 

2010. Promise and the entire consumer fi nance industry in Japan will continue 

to encounter many challenges. Interest repayment claims, for which the out-

look is still unclear, and the restriction on total credit extensions per borrower 

are two major examples of these challenges. I believe that we must reaffi rm 

the Japanese public’s awareness of the important role of consumer fi nance 

in any type of economic climate. I am convinced that this recognition will 

contribute to a recovery in our performance.

     We announced the Business Structural Reform Plan in January 2010 when 

full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law was only a few months 

away. This plan will streamline our operations and give us an operating 

framework ideally suited to market conditions defi ned by this new law. I am 

confi dent that achieving the goals of this plan will give the Promise Group a 

stable profi t structure in our consumer fi nance business. Above all, I want our 

Group to earn a reputation as an organization able to meet a broad spectrum 

of fi nancing needs while serving as a trusted member of society. 
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Millions of Yen 2009 vs 2010

2008 2009 2010 % change
Amount change
(Millions of Yen)

For the Year:

Total operating income  ¥   391,239  ¥   387,950  ¥   338,982  (12.6)%  ¥ (48,968)

Operating profi t (loss)  62,974  (68,037)  18,494  —  86,531

Income (loss) before income taxes and 
   minority interests

 44,586  (77,741)  12,895  —  90,636

Net income (loss)  15,955  (125,123)  14,567  —  139,689

Credit losses including provision for 
   uncollectible loans

 102,458 169,224 127,833  (24.5)  (41,390)

Provision for losses on interest repayments  48,042  103,023  24,612  (76.1)  (78,412)

At Year-End:

Total assets  ¥2,019,055  ¥1,753,632  ¥1,563,843  (10.8)%  ¥(189,789)

Consumer loans receivable: Principal  1,747,736  1,539,430  1,297,985  (15.7)  (241,445)

Total net assets  418,885  283,190  299,607  5.8  16,417

Interest-bearing debt  1,245,042  1,122,839  995,710  (11.3)  (127,129)

Allowance for credit losses  343,959  295,958  245,971  (16.9)  (49,986)

Allowance for losses on interest repayments  283,887  270,948  180,625  (33.3)  (90,323)

Amount per Share (Yen):

Net income (loss)*  ¥   125.81  ¥  (986.64)  ¥   114.86  — %  ¥1,101.50

Cash dividends  40.00  20.00  10.00  (50.0)  (10.00)

Net assets  2,991.03  1,909.65  2,045.02  7.1  135.37

* Based on Japanese accounting standards
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Guaranteed loans outstanding 
increased 10.0% to ¥544,141 
million. Growth was backed 
mainly by an increase in loans 
outstanding of SMBC and a 
development in the number of 
guarantee agreements with 
regional financial institutions 
as we stepped up sales 
activities targeting this market 
sector.
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Consumer loans outstanding 
decreased 15.7% to ¥1,297,985 
million. This decline was 
attributable to the high volume 
of write-offs associated with the 
large amount of interest 
repayment claims, measures to 
improve the quality of the loan 
portfolio to prepare for 
amendments to the law, and the 
sale of loans receivable held by 
two subsidiaries. 

¥1,298.0 billion

Guaranteed Loans Outstanding

500

Financial Highlights
Promise Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries   
Years Ended March 31
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There was an operating profit of 
¥18,494 million compared to the 
loss of ¥68,037 million in the 
previous fiscal year. This was 
mainly due to a decline in expenses 
associated with loan losses and 
interest repayments, as we made 
large additions to allowances 
related to interest repayments in 
the previous fiscal year, along with 
progress in cutting selling, general 
and administrative expenses. 

¥18.5 billion

Total Operating Income
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Although income from loan 
guarantees increased, a large 
decline in interest on consumer 
loans caused total operating 
income to decrease 12.6% to 
¥338,982 million.

¥339.0 billion

Operating Profit (Loss)
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Total assets decreased 10.8% 
to ¥1,563,843 million, mainly 
because of the decline in 
consumer loans outstanding, 
which was offset by the 
withdrawal of allowance for 
credit losses. 

¥1,563.8 billion

Net Income (Loss) 
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Net income was ¥14,567 million 
compared to a net loss of 
¥125,123 million in the previous 
fiscal year. This was attributable 
to a small amount of losses on 
valuation of investments in 
securities and in subsidiaries, 
and a decline in income taxes as 
Promise withdrew all of its non- 
consolidated deferred tax assets 
at the end of March 2009. 

¥14.6 billion
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The equity ratio improved 2.8 
percentage points to 16.6% 
because of the fiscal year’s net 
income. 

16.6%

Interest-Bearing Debt
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Interest-bearing debt for the 
fiscal year-end was ¥995,710 
million, 11.3% less than in the 
previous fiscal year, due to the 
decline in consumer loans 
outstanding.

¥995.7 billion
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Indicators of Profi tability and Financial Soundness
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The number of registered money-
lenders has dropped 77%, from 
18,005 as of March 31, 2005, prior 
to passage of the Money Lending 
Business Law, to only 4,057 as of 
March 31, 2010.

Source: Financial Services Agency

Number of Registered 
Moneylenders 
in Japan 
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Changes in the Operating Environment for Promise
Adapting to the new consumer fi nance market in Japan
following full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law

•The Impact of the Money Lending Business Law

Rapid shrink in the consumer fi nance market and intensive 
competition fueled by a shift in competitive dynamics

The Money Lending Business Law was passed in December 2006 and has been enforced in stages, 
reaching the fi nal stage on June 18, 2010. With all provisions of this law now in force, changes are 
taking place that will fundamentally redefi ne the nature of Japan’s consumer fi nance market.
     The consumer loan market was divided into two major categories. One is the Capital Subscription 
Law interest rate market and the other is the market where interest rates are based on the Interest Rate 
Restriction Law. Consumer fi nance and sales fi nance companies were the primary components of the 
Capital Subscription Law market. The Interest Rate Restriction Law market was made up mostly of banks 
and other fi nancial institutions. Following the full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law, all 
of these companies are competing together for a share of the consumer fi nance market within the same 
band of interest rates. This is certain to produce much more intense competition. Promise believes that 
success in this new age of open competition will depend on establishing superiority in brand equity, 
sales capabilities, credit investigation skills, the capacity to fund loans, and other aspects of operations.
     The consumer loan market in Japan totaled ¥29.4 trillion at the end of 2007. This fi gure dropped rapidly 
in the following years due to the full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law. The restriction 
on total credit extensions, which applies to consumer fi nance companies, will cause the market for these 
companies to shrink. The new restrictions forced these companies to tighten standards for approving loan 
applications. In addition, consumer fi nance companies have written off a massive amount of loans. More-
over, rapid growth in the number of registered moneylenders going out of business has further contributed 
to the shrink in the market.

•Summary of the Money Lending Business Law

The restriction on total credit extension creates an uncertain 
outlook for the consumer fi nance industry

The full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law has two major components: a restriction on 
total credit extensions to no more than one-third of a borrower’s annual income and a reduction in 
the maximum interest rate. Consumer fi nance companies are already using the maximum interest rate 

Consumer credit outstanding at end of 2007: ¥29.4 trillion 

Source: Japan Credit Industry Association, Japan Credit Industry Statistics 2009 

Banks and other
financial institutions

¥15.1 trillion

Consumer finance 
and sales finance

companies 
¥14.3 trillion

Banks and other
financial institutions

Consumer finance
and sales finance
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Outline of the Money 
Lending Business 
Law

1.  Restriction on total 
credit extensions

• Total credit extensions to no 
more than one-third of the 
borrower’s annual income

• Credit information 
institutions applied to the 
Financial Services Agency for 
certifi cation

2.  Suitable interest rate 
structure

• Maximum interest rate 
under Capital Subscription 
Law reduced to maximum of 
Interest Rate Restriction Law 
(20%)

( Maximum interest rate under 
Interest Rate Restriction Law) 

Principal less than ¥100,000  20%
Principal ¥100,000—¥999,999  18%
Principal of ¥1 million or more  15%

3.  Tighter basic fi nancial 
requirements for 
moneylenders

• Net assets of at least ¥50 
million

• Certifi ed money lending 
supervisors required 
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stipulated by the Interest Rate Restriction Law. The total credit extension restriction will make it diffi cult 
to extend additional loans to borrowers who previously would have been eligible to receive these loans.
     For borrowers with applicable loans that exceed the limit on total credit extensions, lenders can do 
nothing except collect repayments until all outstanding loans fall below one-third of the borrower’s 
annual income. Clearly, this will cause a decline in total consumer loans outstanding. Furthermore, mon-
eylenders have to check each customer’s total borrowings and annual income. That means customers 
will have to submit proof of income and a housewife will have to show proof of her husband’s income.
     In March 2010, Japan Credit Information Reference Center Corp. (JICC) and Credit Information Center 
Corp. (CIC) were designated as credit information institutions for the purpose of keeping track of cus-
tomers’ loans. This created a framework for the management and provision of credit information.
     The Money Lending Business Law has been successful at lowering the number of people with loans 
from many borrowers. However, the law is also creating serious problems. Consumer fi nance companies 
can no longer extend loans to fi nancially sound borrowers. Consumer loans outstanding are falling 
rapidly, and consumer fi nance companies themselves may have diffi culty procuring funds because of 
the new business climate. To overcome these challenges, consumer fi nance companies must switch to a 
fundamentally different business model.

•Interest Repayment Claims

Interest repayment claims remain high and still require 
close attention

Interest repayment claims are having an increasingly severe impact on the earnings of Japan’s consumer 
fi nance companies. As of December 2009, the cumulative amount of interest repayment claims exceeded 
¥1.5 trillion at the four major consumer fi nance companies. On the other hand, there has been a rapid 
increase in complaints about lawyers and judicial scriveners from individuals demanding interest repay-
ments and other forms of debt reorganization. In response, the Japan Federation of Bar Associations 
and the Japan Federation of Shiho-Shoshi Lawyer’s Associations have established guidelines and other 
actions are being taken. However, the restriction on total credit extensions prevents customers who were 
previously able to receive additional loans from obtaining this credit. Blocking access to new loans cre-
ates the risk of forcing these individuals to demand interest repayments instead. This is why we will need 
to closely follow upcoming developments involving these repayments. 
     At Promise, the number of interest repayment claims appears to have peaked but the volume re-
mains high. Moreover, enforcement of the restriction on total credit extensions may cause the number 
of claims to start increasing again. We will continue to deal with these interest repayment claims while 
keeping an eye out for any changes from month to month.

Number of Interest Repayment Claims 
The number of interest repayment claims at Promise peaked at 12,300 in June and then declined until September. 
The number of claims has been basically fl at since October.

14
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Note:  Japan Federation of Bar Associations established a Policy for Handling of Debt Reorganizations in July 2009 and amended the 
policy in March 2010.

  Japan Federation of Shiho-Shoshi Lawyer’s Associations established a Policy for Handling of Debt Reorganizations in December 
2009 and amended the policy in May 2010.
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Initiatives Taken by Promise
Rebuild the public image of the consumer fi nance industry and
establish a strong profi t structure to adapt to the new regulatory environment

•Overview of Business Structural Reform Plan

Quickly implement business structural reforms and create a 
streamlined business framework

Promise is taking many actions to achieve the goals of the business structural reform plan announced 
in January 2010. Building a base for consistent profi tability is the central objective. Initiatives are focused 
on four reforms. We are determined to establish the best operating framework for success in the new 
regulatory environment while fulfi lling the social obligation of meeting our customers’ need for fi nancing. 

•A New Marketing Organization and Upgraded Customer Service Capabilities

A new marketing organization that prioritizes customer service 
and improves effi ciency

The centerpiece of changes to marketing activities and reorganization is the elimination of all staffed 
branches, which totaled 123 at the end of March 2010.
     In recent years, customer demand for contact using non-face-to-face service channels has been 
growing steadily, and almost all loan applications, disbursements, and repayments have been handled by 
automatic contract machines (ACMs), via internet, or by affi liated ATMs, while the oversight of current 
Promise customers has been the primary function of staffed branches. Therefore, to boost effi ciency 
while enhancing the quality of customer services, we centralized the functions of staffed branches into 
a new network of customer service centers, customer service plazas, and administrative service centers. 
In another move to streamline our organization, we closed all regional headquarters and area marketing 
departments in June 2010 to create a fl at organization supervised directly by the head offi ce.
     This new marketing framework better serves customers by achieving a seamless linkage among the 
roles of all channels within our new sales and service framework. Based on this approach, contact center 
and customer service centers handle backyard operations, which do not include face-to-face contact, 
and customer service plazas handle operations involving face-to-face services. The aim is to enhance 
customer services and earn even greater trust from customers.

 

Marketing Framework
as of March 2010 New Marketing Framework Started in July 2010 

Customer Service
Centers (8)

4 centers in Tokyo (July), 2 centers 
each in Osaka and Fukuoka (October)

Contact Center

Unstaffed Branches (1,250)
At end of March 2011 (planned)

Customer Service Plazas (21)
First plaza started operation in July

Operations Center
Started operation in July

Core policies:

Areas (20)

Sales Centers (20)

Contact Center

Unstaffed Branches
(1,369)

Staffed Branches
(123)

Changes to Marketing Activities and Reorganization 

Four Key Structures 

1.  Changes to Marketing 
Activities and Reorganization 

•  Use one-to-one marketing 
to offer quality products and 
services and remain highly 
competitive 

•  Improve effi ciency through 
restructuring of marketing 
channels and organization

2.  Perform Review of Group 
Strategies

•  Concentrating resources on 
the core fi nance business 

•  Use management resources 
more effi ciently Groupwide 

3.  Structural Cost Reforms
•  Create a streamlined business 

framework that can overcome 
challenges created by full 
enforcement of the Money 
Lending Business Law

• Reduce personnel cost 

4.  Perform Review of 
Marketing Strategies

•  Channel management 
resources to the core 
businesses of unsecured loans 
and loan guarantees with the 
aim of capturing the largest 
possible market share in both 
categories among Japan’s 
non-banks 



* Money Advisor: This internal 
qualifi cation established by Promise 
gives individuals the knowledge 
needed to assist customers in many 
ways with the management of 
their fi nances. The training pro-
gram places particular emphasis on 
upgrading counseling and commu-
nication skills. Making Promise a 
trusted partner of customers is the 
primary objective. 
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•Stronger Ties with Customers

Create a new image for consumer fi nance and make Promise a 
company that is an integral member of communities

Competition is becoming even more intense as Japan’s consumer fi nance market continues to shrink. 
Customer service plazas are a key strategy for differentiating Promise from competitors. Activities of 
these plazas include face-to-face sales and consultations and external sales to identify funding needs of 
small business owners. Improving the public image of the consumer fi nance industry and contributing to 
communities are other goals. Certifi ed Money Advisors* are assigned to customer service plazas to help 
accomplish these goals. These advisors offer counseling, create fi nancial plans, and offer other assistance, 
even to those who are not Promise customers. By providing these services, Money Advisors help Promise 
establish customer relationships rooted in trust and deepen lines of communication with customers.
     We plan to have 21 customer service plazas by March 2011. 

•Strengthen the Group Strategies

Establish an operating framework that can be consistently 
profi table following regulatory changes

Our strategy is to concentrate resources on the core fi nance business. We will quickly sell or terminate 
new businesses where considerable time will be needed to improve performance. Our consumer fi nance 
business will be centered on loans outstanding and loan guarantees. The goal is to maximize our share 
of the consumer loan and guarantee markets. To use costs more effi ciently we plan to unify all consumer 
fi nance activities within Promise. SANYO SHINPAN and Promise will merge in October 2010 and then 
Promise will absorb At-Loan no later than April 2011.
     PAL Servicer and Sanyo Shinpan Servicer merged in April 2010 to form Ablio Servicer. As a compre-
hensive loan servicing company, Ablio Servicer can handle a broad range of transactions large and small. 
     Regarding overseas operations, we are currently examining opportunities for starting business opera-
tions in China and other Asian countries from a long-term perspective together with SMBC. In June 
2010, Promise established an Overseas Business Department, and in July 2010, we started our consumer 
fi nance business in Shenzhen, China. The oversight for overseas operations has been centralized by mak-
ing PROMISE (HONG KONG) a headquarters to more quickly target opportunities in the rapidly changing 
Asian marketplace.

•Strengthen the Consumer Finance and Loan Guarantee Businesses

Expand and deepen ties with SMBC and regional fi nancial 
institutions

Regarding the consumer fi nance business, increasing loans outstanding will not be easy. However, we 
have many strengths. Our service channels can approve loans very quickly, we can develop new fi nanc-
ing products with fl exibility, and we have highly sophisticated credit investigation skills. We will leverage 
these strengths as we use marketing reforms to upgrade our customer service capabilities. We believe 
that using these measures to differentiate our services will allow us to attract new customers while 
retaining our current customers.
     In our new core loan guarantee business, guaranteed loans outstanding have been increasing every 
year. Our card loan guarantee alliance with SMBC has already expanded to guaranteed loans outstanding 
of more than ¥300 billion. The breadth of SMBC loan guarantees is growing, too. We added education 
loan guarantees in December 2008 and then guarantees for SMBC’s auto loans and unrestricted loans. 
For regional fi nancial institutions, our services are not limited to loan guarantees and associated services. 
We plan to enlarge our service lineup to include assistance using the expertise of our employees, such as 
consulting, schemes for the joint operation of loan processing and managing facilities, debt underwrit-
ing schemes, and other forms of support.
  

Profi le of Shenzhen 
Consumer Finance 
Business 

Trade name 
PROMISE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.

Description of business 
Small loans

Date of establishment 
May 2007

Location 
Futian District, Shenzhen

Paid-in capital 
RMB 50 million

Shareholders 
PROMISE (HONG KONG) 
CO., LTD. 60.0%
Pengyuan Credit Rating 
Co., Ltd. 40.0%
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Full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law and the high volume 
of interest repayment claims make the outlook for the operating environment 
uncertain. The Company president Ken Kubo discusses the Promise Group’s 
Business Structural Reform Plan, which defi nes strategic objectives for success in the 
new regulatory environment for the consumer fi nance industry.

As the new president of Promise, what are your goals for the 
Group now that all provisions of the Money Lending Business 
Law are in effect?

Mr. Kubo: Promise had a consolidated net loss of ¥125.1 billion in the fi scal year ended March 31, 
2009. Naturally, returning to profi tability was a major goal in the year ended March 31, 2010. How-
ever, market conditions were even more diffi cult than we had expected. Consumer loans outstanding 
continued to decline because of the consistently large volume of interest repayment claims, the use of 
tighter loan approval standards, and other factors. However, we succeeded in reporting a net income of 
¥14.5 billion due to the withdrawal of allowances for credit losses. Despite this profi t, we have concerns 
regarding our performance in the future due to a decline in consumer loans outstanding that is more 
rapid than had been anticipated.
     Following the full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law, we will have to overcome even 
more adversity in our operating environment. Our highest priority must be to focus all our energy on re-
forming the Promise Group’s business model into one that customers choose over competitors and that 
can be consistently profi table. Creating the Business Structural Reform Plan was the fi rst step toward 
achieving this.

KEN KUBO
President and Representative Director,
Chief Executive Offi cer
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What are the main objectives of the Business Structural 
Reform Plan?

Mr. Kubo: Two issues defi ne the Business Structural Reform Plan. One is the role of our core consumer 
fi nance business. The other is the role of the consumer fi nance industry in Japan.
     The consumer fi nance business serves mainly customers who have an urgent need for cash. We need 
to build even stronger relationships with those people who want to remain Promise customers. However, 
the Money Lending Business Law limits our ability to meet fi nancing needs quickly by placing many 
restrictions on the approval of new loans. Moreover, our consumer loans outstanding have been declin-
ing for some time. This situation creates an urgent need to reexamine the existing consumer fi nance 
business model from every angle. Our new business model must be able to generate consistent earnings 
under the strict regulatory environment imposed by the Money Lending Business Law.
     For many years, Japan’s consumer fi nance industry performed a specifi c and necessary role: meeting 
the diverse funding needs of individuals and small business owners that were unable to receive loans 
from banks, credit unions, and other fi nancial institutions. However, the imposition of these regulations 
shows that the consumer fi nance industry is still unable to correct the public’s negative perception of 
the industry. Of course, consumer fi nance companies themselves are somewhat responsible for this 
perception because of inadequate measures to earn an accurate public image. We must once again 
demonstrate to customers and communities that our industry is meeting an important role in a 
responsible manner.
     We created the Business Structural Reform Plan to solve these issues in stages. There are two central 
concepts to this plan. First is fulfi lling the public service obligation to meet the diverse funding needs 
of our customers. Second is building an operating framework best suited to the new market conditions 
following full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law and maximize benefi ts of streamlining 
initiatives. To accomplish these goals, the plan has four key structures: changes to marketing activities 
and reorganization; performing a review of Group strategies; structural cost reforms; and performing a 
review of marketing strategies.

Customer 
Service Plaza

Face-to-face service channel

Unstaffed
Branches

Contact
Center

Upgrade customer services by using seamless collaboration among different customer contact points 

Customers
Non-face-to-face 
service channel

Customer
Service Centers

Accounts administration channel

Core channel

New Marketing Framework Improves Customer Service Capabilities
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Please explain the key elements of the actions you took 
that signifi cantly altered the Promise Group’s organizational 
structure.

Mr. Kubo: Promise cannot move forward without breaking away from our previous operating frame-
work. We need a fl at organization that is structured for maximum effi ciency in relation to our available 
resources.
     To create this organization, we decided to close our nationwide network of staffed branches, which 
totaled 123 at the end of March 2010. Almost all of our new customers apply for loans by using ACMs or 
other remote service channels. Staffed branches accounted for only 8% of loan applications. Activities of 
staffed branches will be divided between customer service centers and an operations center. We will use 
new channels to offer our customers even better one-to-one services.
We also added a new service channel called customer service plazas. The role of these plazas is reinforc-
ing the public’s perception of Promise as a corporate brand. Plaza operations will closely refl ect regional 
and customer needs by providing loan counseling and many other forms of assistance. In the future, I 
want these plazas to develop into sources of a variety of Promise know-how. For example, plazas may 
offer fi nancial education by cooperating with local governments, education institutes, and chambers of 
commerce.
     Performing a review of Group strategies involves integrating Group companies in order to eliminate 
ineffi ciencies and reduce advertising, personnel, and other expenses. In our consumer fi nance business, 
Promise plans to merge with SANYO SHINPAN in October 2010 and absorb At-Loan in April 2011. In our 
loan management and collection business, we combined two subsidiaries to create Abilio Servicer.
     The Promise Group has been pursuing a diversifi cation strategy in recent years. At this time, we 
are performing a review of the profi tability of non-fi nance related businesses, which we are selling 
or reorganizing.
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     Performing a review of marketing strategies is extremely important with respect to making Promise 
consistently profi table. We will rebuild our consumer fi nance business with the goal of providing speedy 
services from the standpoint of our customers. Establishing the internal qualifi cation of Money Advisor, 
which requires certifi cation based on our own standards, is one component of this process.
     We will establish a profi t structure for the Promise Group that has two core businesses: consumer 
fi nance and loan guarantees. We plan to achieve signifi cant growth in the loan guarantee business as we 
increase sales activities to expand the number of guarantee agreements with fi nancial institutions.

How do you plan to develop the loan business into a major 
source of earnings?

Mr. Kubo: Our guaranteed loans outstanding totaled ¥544.1 billion. I want to raise this to approxi-
mately ¥800 billion. Competition is increasing as sales fi nance companies enter the loan guarantee 
market. Recently, banks, which are the main source of loans that are guaranteed, are still not aggres-
sively pursuing the market for unsecured loans to individuals. However, there are rumors that Japan Post 
Bank may start a small personal unsecured loan business, and I think that regional fi nancial institutions 
will be forced to focus on the loan guarantee business as a result. For these reasons, I am confi dent that 
loan guarantees will grow into a very attractive market for the Promise Group.
     We are steadily increasing the number of loans that we guarantee for Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
Corporation (SMBC). We guarantee education, automobile, and unrestricted loans and continue to hold 
discussions with SMBC with the aim of having Promise handle all loan guarantees for this bank. In-
creasing loan guarantee agreements with regional fi nancial institutions is another objective. To sign up 
more agreements, we have an extensive marketing organization and are offering an even larger array of 
services and guaranteed loans.

In closing, what would you like to say to 
shareholders and investors?

Mr. Kubo: I want to transform the Promise Group into an organization that can 
serve a broad array of consumer needs by achieving the objectives of the Business 
Structural Reform Plan. We cannot succeed by serving only a small portion of our 
customers’ needs.
     Full enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law will undoubtedly have a big 
impact on our performance. However, we cannot inform the public about Promise 
and our mission unless we overcome the challenges created by this law. This is why 
we are rapidly moving ahead with the Business Structural Reform Plan. 
     I have a strong commitment to meeting the expectations of shareholders. I plan 
to quickly build a sound base of operations that can support long-term growth. My 
goal is to make Promise Japan’s leading consumer fi nance company in terms of qual-
ity and quantity. I look forward to receiving your continued support and understand-
ing as I take the actions that are needed to accomplish our goals.
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Basic Stance on Corporate Governance

The Promise Group believes that the establishment of effective corpo-
rate governance is an integral element in prosperous coexistence with 
society as a trusted corporate citizen. To this end, the Group constant-
ly strives to strengthen its management structure; improve its internal 
control and audit systems; enhance disclosure; and further improve 
the effi ciency, soundness, and transparency of management on a pillar 
of ethical and legal compliance.

Corporate Governance Organization

1. The Board of Directors
Promise has adopted the Executive Offi cer System since June 2002 
for the purpose of separating the functions of business management 
and execution. The Board of Directors, which consists of fi ve members, 
holds two regular meetings each month and meets at other times as 
required. The directors discuss and reach quick and accurate decisions 
on legal issues and on important issues regarding business manage-
ment, and provide oversight of business operations. 
     Although Promise has no outside directors, there is an Advisory 
Board that consists of prominent individuals with backgrounds in 
business, academics, and other fi elds. By serving as an advisory unit to 
the president, this board allows Promise to refl ect external viewpoints 
in its management.

2.  The Business Strategy Meeting and the Executive Offi cers 
Meeting

The Business Strategy Meeting and the Executive Offi cers Meeting 
serve as advisory arms to the president and representative direc-
tor. The Business Strategy Meeting is made up of the directors and 
executive offi cers in charge of business divisions. This meeting holds 
preliminary discussions and debates on items to be submitted to the 
Board of Directors, important subjects involving strategies and the 
management of business operations. In principle, this meeting is held 
twice each month. The Executive Offi cers Meeting, which is made 
up of all executive offi cers, is held once each quarter. This meeting 
receives reports about business operations and handles issues that in-
volve two or more business units. Sharing information about manage-
ment issues is one more role of this meeting. Promise has 12 executive 
offi cers, including the executive offi cers who also serve as directors.

3. Committees
Promise has established other committees for the purpose of upgrad-
ing internal controls and risk management. These committees, which 
handle issues involving the entire Group, meet periodically with 
additional meetings as necessary for the purposes of discussing issues 
related to their respective areas of responsibility and to provide advice 
to the Board of Directors and other management divisions.

Committees
Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee meets, in 
principle, once in three months or on an 
as-needed basis to consider the risks faced by 
the entire Promise Group and to analyze, assess, 
and determine measures for these risks. Working 
with related business units, the committee 
strives to prevent the emergence of risk and to 
implement early countermeasures for risks that 
do occur.

Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee meets, in principle, 
twice a month or on an as-needed basis. The 
committee oversees information about internal 
management systems and deals quickly with 
issues involving compliance. The objective is to 
strengthen internal management activities so 
that business operations always comply with 
laws and regulations and other guidelines for 
proper behavior.

Disciplinary Committee
The Disciplinary Committee meets as necessary to 
issue appropriate commendations or disciplinary 
actions for the purpose of ensuring the soundness 
and appropriateness of corporate activities.
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4. Corporate Auditor Audits and Internal Audit Organization
Promise has adopted the Corporate Auditor System. The Board of 
Auditors determines auditing policies and other matters and reaches 
decisions about important matters concerning audits. To improve 
auditing activities, Promise has an Auditor Department to provide 
the corporate auditors with their own staff that can assist them in 
performing their duties. The Board of Auditors consists of four mem-
bers, including two outside auditors. The corporate auditors perform 
audits of the performance of directors in line with auditing policies 
and other guidelines established by the Board of Auditors. These 
audits include attending meetings of the Board of Directors and other 
important meetings and performing audits of business operations and 
fi nancial matters. Promise shareholders elected one alternate corpo-
rate auditor to be prepared in case the number of corporate auditors 
falls below the legally mandated number.
     Internal audits are performed in accordance with an audit plan 
prepared by the Inspection Department. These audits take place at 
all departments and at Promise Group companies and the results are 
reported to the president of Promise. In addition, to ensure that all 
three audits (corporate auditor audits, independent accountant audits, 
and internal audits) are conducted in a well-coordinated manner, the 
corporate auditors receive audit reports. Furthermore, the corporate 
auditors work closely with the independent accountant for the pur-
pose of facilitating mutual cooperation and understanding.

Expanding Disclosure Activities

Promise has a high-profi le investor relations (IR) program in Japan 
and overseas for the purpose of providing shareholders with informa-
tion that ensures the transparency of business operations.
     Promise uses a variety of fi nancial materials and other IR tools 
along with its IR website (http://www.promise.co.jp/english/ir/) to 
make information about strategies, business operations, and other 
activities readily available. Direct communications are another element 
of IR activities. This includes presentations at information meetings 
for earnings announcements, conference calls with analysts and 
investors, and other activities. These activities are opportunities for 
Promise’s senior executives to explain the Company’s operations 
and goals as well as for these executives to hear the thoughts and 
suggestions of shareholders and investors.

Strict Compliance Programs

Compliance is one of the highest priorities at Promise. All members of 
the Group are committed to strict compliance with laws, regulations, 
and ethical standards. In addition, Promise establishes its own rules, 
holds compliance training and awareness programs, and conducts 
other activities to reinforce its compliance system.
     The Risk Management Department is responsible for compliance 
and risk management programs. This department determines pro-
grams for the promotion of compliance, operates an internal hotline 

for reporting violations, and performs other roles. In addition, risk 
management operations and legal affairs operations are used to 
further enhance the effectiveness of compliance activities and to build 
more powerful management systems for the Promise Group.
     For the purpose of using objective, third-party evaluations to 
accumulate knowledge about compliance, Promise has been encour-
aging to take outside certifi cation, such as the Compliance Offi cer 
Certifi cation Examination (Consumer Finance Course) since 2003. Next 
was the 2006 start of the Personal Information Privacy Offi cer Certi-
fi cation Examination (Consumer Finance Course). Promise encourages 
all employees to take these classes. Currently, more than 90% of full-
time employees have been certifi ed as compliance offi cers. Promise is 
extending this program to cover contract employees as well to further 
heighten the understanding and awareness of compliance. 
     Furthermore, to make compliance an integral part of the Promise 
corporate culture, there are compliance seminars, frequent articles 
about compliance in the employee magazine, and other activities 
involving compliance.

Internal Control System

The establishment and proper operation of an internal control system 
is one of Promise’s important management issues. For this purpose, 
Promise has rules and regulations, maintains an internal organization 
for internal controls and takes other actions.
     The Board of Directors has approved a Fundamental Policy for 
Establishing an Internal Control System that is based on the following 
eight systems.

1.  System for ensuring that directors perform their duties in confor-
mity with laws, regulations and the Articles of Incorporation

2.  System for retention and management of information concerning 
the performance of duties by directors

3. Rules and other systems concerning risk management
4. System for ensuring that directors perform their duties effi ciently
5.  System for ensuring that employees perform their duties in con-

formity with laws, regulations and the Articles of Incorporation
6.  System for ensuring that the Promise Group, including Promise 

and its subsidiaries and affi liates, conducts business operations in 
an appropriate manner

7.  Items concerning employees assigned to assist the corporate 
auditors perform their duties and items concerning the indepen-
dence of these employees from the directors

8.  System for directors, employees and others to submit reports to 
the corporate auditors and system for ensuring that effectiveness 
of audits by the corporate auditors
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Risk Management System

Promise has risk management regulations with the aim of minimizing 
the impact of problems, ensuring the continuity of business operations, 
and assuring that business operations are sound and appropriate.
     Promise established a Risk Management Committee chaired by the 
director appointed by the president. The committee monitors at the 
management level the various risks associated with all business activi-
ties and responds quickly in the event of a problem. In addition, for 
risks identifi ed by individual departments that may have a signifi cant 
effect on the operations of Promise, the committee determines coun-
termeasures and supervises the use of these measures. Specifi c risks 
are managed by the responsible departments and the Risk Manage-
ment Department confi rms the status of centralized risk management.

Information Security

Promise recognizes that information associated with business activi-
ties, including customer information, is an extremely valuable asset. In 
October 2006, Promise received Privacy Mark certifi cation and uses a 
strict management system for all information.

     Promise uses the following measures to ensure the safety of 
information as stipulated with the Act on the Protection of Personal 
Information.

1. Organizational Security Management Measures
Established the Information Management Department and operates 
this department in accordance with policies and rules for personal 
information safety management measures; established the Risk 
Management Department and the Compliance Committee

2. Physical Security Management Measures
Measures to prevent unauthorized access to secured rooms and the 
theft of personal information

3. Technical Security Management Measures
Controls for access to customer information; management of use 
of fi les and access log; establishment of surveillance system for 
information systems

4. Personnel Security Management Measures
Employee training programs and programs to receive offi cial 
certifi cations regarding information security

Examples of Risk Management Initiatives

Disaster prevention measures based on crime / disaster 
prevention and management policy

Measures to eliminate association with antisocial forces 
and organizations

Measures to secure computer systems in the event of 
large-scale disaster (earthquake)

Hardware:

Data:

Chief Risk Management Manager

Risk Management Committee
Control System 
of Groupwide 
Risk Management

Supervising System for
Risk Management of 
Group Companies / Departments

Risk Management Managers (Departmental Heads)

Employees (including temporary and part-time workers)

Risk Administration Dept.
(Risk Management Dept.)

Head Office Administration Depts.
of AffiliatesMarketing Depts.

Risk Management System (As of June 23, 2010)



Management Team 
(As of July 1, 2010)

Directors

President and Representative Director, Chief Executive Offi cer

Ken Kubo
April 1977 Joined The Sumitomo Bank, Limited.
May 2007  Named Vice President and Executive Offi cer of 

Promise
November 2009  Named President and Representative Director, Chief 

Executive Offi cer (current position)

Director, Senior Managing Executive Offi cer

Teruaki Watanabe
March 1978 Joined Promise Trust Co., Ltd. (currently Promise)
November 2007  Named Vice President and Executive Offi cer of 

SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD.
June 2010  Named Director and Senior Managing Executive 

Offi cer of Promise (current position)

Director, Managing Executive Offi cer

Yoshiyuki Tateishi 
March 1977 Joined Promise Trust Co., Ltd. (currently Promise) 
April 2007  Named Managing Executive Offi cer of Promise 

(current position)
June 2008 Named Director of Promise (current position)

Director, Managing Executive Offi cer

Tomohiko Tashiro
April 1980 Joined The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
June 2009  Named Managing Executive Offi cer of Promise 

(current position)
 Named Director of Promise (current position)

Director, Managing Executive Offi cer

Masahiko Iwanami 
April 1980 Joined The Mitsui Bank, Ltd.
April 2010  Named Managing Executive Offi cer of Promise 

(current position)
June 2010 Named Director of Promise (current position)

Corporate Auditors

Full-Time Corporate Auditors

Hiromichi Ezawa
Yoshiyuki Akasako
Hiroaki Mori (Outside Auditor)

Takanori Yasunaga (Outside Auditor)

 

Executive Offi cers 

Chief Executive Offi cer

Ken Kubo

Senior Managing Executive Offi cer

Teruaki Watanabe
In Charge of Marketing Administration Dept., Marketing Dept., 
Business System Dept., Credit Control Dept., and Business Affairs Dept.

Managing Executive Offi cers

Yoshiyuki Tateishi
Corporate Communications Dept., Risk Management Dept., 
and Customer Relationship Dept.

Tomohiko Tashiro
Treasury Dept., Alliance Operation Dept., and Guarantee Center

Masahiko Iwanami
Corporate Planning Dept., IT Development Dept., and IT Operation Dept.

Executive Offi cers

Shoichi Azuma
Overseas Business Dept.

Hirokazu Mitsui
Marketing Administration Dept., Customer Service Plaza, Contact 
Center, and Customer Service Center

Yoichi Sato
Accounting Dept., Internal Control Dept., Treasury Dept., and Alliance 
Operation Dept. 

Masayoshi Ichikawa
Legal Affairs Management Dept., and Administration Dept.

Tetsuo Koyama
Related Business Dept.

Akihiro Sakabe
Planning & Coordination Dept., Treasury Dept., and Alliance Operation Dept.

Masahide Kitakado
Human Resources Dept., and General Affairs Dept.
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The consumer fi nance companies of the Promise Group are subject to 
the provisions of the Money Lending Business Law, Capital Subscrip-
tion Law, and Interest Rate Restriction Law.
     The Money Lending Business Law was passed in December 2006 
as a business oversight law under the jurisdiction of the Financial 
Services Agency for the purposes of ensuring the proper operations 
of moneylenders and protecting the interests of borrowers. The fi nal 
stage of this law and the partial amendment of the Capital Subscription 
Law and the Interest Rate Restriction Law were enforced on June 18, 
2010. With all provisions now in effect, moneylenders must comply 
with a higher standard for fi nancial soundness (net assets of at least 
¥50 million), a requirement to provide borrowers with certain docu-
ments in advance, a restriction on total credit extensions, and a lower 
maximum interest rate.
     In this diffi cult operating environment, the fi nancial performance 
and business operations of the Promise Group are vulnerable to the 
following laws and regulations as well as other business-related risks.

Risk Concerning Restriction on Total 
Credit Extensions

The restriction on total credit extensions establishes a limit on credit 
extensions to one-third of each borrower’s annual income. Money-
lenders that extend loans to individuals are required to use personal 

credit information held by designated credit information institutions.* 
This information is needed to check for loans from other companies, 
the total amount of loans outstanding, and other items before ap-
proving new loans.
     To confi rm annual income, all moneylenders are currently asking 
customers to submit proof of income. As a result, there will probably 
be instances in which even creditworthy customers will be unable to 
obtain additional loans because total credit extensions already exceed 
one-third of their annual income. For customers who already have 
loans that exceed the new limit, moneylenders will be forced to lower 
total credit extensions to less than one-third of the borrower’s annual 
income. This will restrict transactions with these borrowers to only 
loan repayments until the total falls below the maximum amount al-
lowed. This will cause a decrease in total consumer loans outstanding.

*Designated credit information institution
Designated credit information institutions fulfi ll the role of limiting mul-
tiple indebtedness and preventing excessive credit extensions by managing 
credit information and performing other tasks. Two organizations have been 
approved: JICC, which is associated with the consumer fi nance industry, and 
CIC, which is associated with the sales fi nance industry. These two credit bu-
reaus are required to exchange loan balance data and other personal credit 
information with each other.
     The following mutual information exchange network is used for the ex-
change of personal credit information with other credit information bureaus.

Financial Information Network (FINE)

Japan Reference Center
Information Corp. (JICC)

Credit Information Network (CRIN)

Primary members: Consumer credit 
companies, consumer finance companies, 
credit card companies owned by retailers, 
banks or manufacturers, financial 
institutions, loan guarantee, and leasing 
companies

Credit Information
Center Corp. (CIC)

Primary members: Consumer credit 
companies, credit companies

Personal Credit Information
Center of Japanese Bankers Association

Primary members: Financial institutions

The Financial Information Network (FINE) is a 
network for communications between JICC and 
CIC, which was established in accordance with 
the designated credit information institution 
system created by the Money Lending Business 
Law. FINE provides the framework for allowing 
moneylenders to accurately determine each 
customer’s total loans outstanding. 
Moneylenders are required to exchange personal 
credit information, specific information, and 
other information regarding loan balances. 

The Credit Information Network (CRIN) is a 
network for exchanging credit information 
among JICC, CIC, and the Personal Credit 
Information Center of the Japanese Bankers 
Association. This network is used only for credit 
information held by these credit information 
agencies that is associated with overdue 
payments, lost or stolen personal identification 
documents, comments about credit applications 
by individuals with the same name as for an 
existing credit information entry, and other items.

Source: JICC’s Website

Summary of Mutual Personal Credit Information Sharing Network



Risk Concerning Interest Rate 

The fi nal stage of enforcement of money lending-related laws lowered 
the maximum interest rate from 29.2% to the limits imposed by the 
Interest Rate Restriction Law. The new limits are 20% for principal of 
less than ¥100,000, 18% for principal of more than ¥100,000 but less 
than ¥1 million, and 15% for principal of ¥1 million or more.
     The Promise Group is complying with this restriction by offering 
loans with interest rates at or below the Interest Rate Restriction 
Law limit to new customers. For current customers, Group companies 
are lowering interest rates on loans in accordance with the status of 
customer relationships. If an amendment or other revision results in 
a further reduction in the Capital Subscription Law or Interest Rate 
Restriction Law maximum interest rate, there may be an impact on the 
Group’s performance and business operations.

Risk Concerning Interest Repayment 
Claims

The Promise Group has prepared for the possibility of an increase in 
interest repayment claims by establishing, in the fi scal year ended 
March 31, 2010, allowances totaling ¥311,076 million associated with 
these claims. Interest repayment claims exert pressure on operating 
income. The volume of interest repayment claims at the Group is still 
high and there may be an unexpectedly large increase in these claims 
if Japan’s Supreme Court reaches a new verdict that is unfavorable 
for moneylenders. If an unexpectedly large increase in claims 
occurs, there may be a signifi cant negative impact on the Group’s 
performance and business operations.

Risk Concerning Fund Procurement

The Promise Group has a basic strategy of procuring mainly long-
term funds in order to minimize exposure to risks associated with the 
procurement of funds. The Group uses a variety of direct and indirect 
procurement channels, including loans from fi nancial institutions and 
bond issues in Japan and other countries. In addition, other measures 
are used to maintain the stability of fund procurement activities while 
holding down costs. To minimize exposure to the risk associated with 
an increase in interest rates, the Group’s fundamental policy is to 
procure funds with fi xed interest rates. Interest rate swaps are used to 
convert fl oating rate debt to fi xed-rate debt. To hedge risks associated 
with exchange rate volatility, the Group uses currency swaps for funds 
procured in foreign currencies.
     Currently, the Promise Group has no diffi culty in procuring funds. 
However, an alternation by fi nancial institutions to their lending 
policies due to turmoil in fi nancial markets, a decline in earnings at 
the Promise Group, an increase in market interest rates, or a reduc-
tion in Promise Group ratings by credit rating agencies may cause the 

environment for fund procurement to worsen far more than could be 
envisioned. Any of these events may increase the cost of procuring 
funds.

Risk Concerning the Group’s Strategy

The Promise Group has a strategy of using alliances and other forms 
of cooperation with SMFG and other business partners. However, a 
rapid change in market conditions or other events may prevent this 
strategy from producing benefi ts as planned.
     In addition, the Promise Group acquires companies and forms 
business alliances that include mutual equity investments as one 
means of increasing corporate value and may take similar actions in 
the future as well. When reaching decisions involving acquisitions 
and alliances, care is exercised to avoid risk by performing thorough 
due-diligence concerning the business operations and fi nancial condi-
tion of prospective acquisitions or alliances, contract terms, and other 
items. However, there may be a brief negative impact on the Group’s 
performance, or the acquisition or alliance may not produce benefi ts 
as expected due to the need to make substantial investments, amor-
tize goodwill, or take other actions.

Other Risks

Other risks that the Group is exposed to include, but are not limited 
to: signifi cant litigation and other legal proceedings, management of 
personal data and compliance with the Private Information Protection 
Law, computer system troubles, country risks, and so on.
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The Promise Approach to CSR

A fi rm commitment to both corporate governance and CSR 
is essential to earning recognition as a trusted corporate 
citizen dedicated to mutually benefi cial co-existence with 
society while raising corporate value. Promise takes many 
actions to earn and retain this reputation.
     Our activities refl ect our responsibilities regarding 
the three aspects of CSR. First is the economic aspect of 
earning an appropriate profi t from the provision of qual-
ity services. Second is the social aspect of contributing 
to social welfare and educating consumers. Third is the 
environmental aspect of making environmental activities 
like recycling and water conservation part of our daily 
business operations.
     One illustration of these activities is consulting and 
counseling services offered by the newly established 
customer service plazas. We also work with associations 
like the Japan Consumer Finance Association and build ties 
with communities. All these activities are aimed at deepen-
ing our relationships with customers and communities.

Promise’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Activities
Promise Co., Ltd.    Annual Report 2010

Individual
customers

Counseling1

Customer Service Plazas

Standard services:

New counseling services:

Marketing Activities Closely 
Linked to Communities
3

Development of business loans:

Loan guarantee marketing:

External
associations

Social Responsibility2
Collaboration with associations:

Distribution of information:

Small
business
owners

Regional
financial

institutions

Other Activities4

Money Advisors
Counseling

Provision of
loans and
other products

Referrals to
external

associations

Area marketing

Sales activities
to maintain

customer
relationships

Cooperation
with associations

Examination of
periodic reports

Customer Service Plazas
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Founding Spirit
Pursuing the ideals of consumer finance and aiming for the highest possible goals

Code of Ethics, Code of Conduct
Act as a trusted corporate citizen

Fulfilling Corporate Social Responsibility

Our Definition of CSR

Corporate Philosophy
Our Mission:  Support affluent lifestyles and aim to be a trusted corporate citizen
Our Management:  Target appropriate profit levels through efficient management and 
 seek to achieve sustainable growth
Our Actions:  Be appreciated by customers and cooperate with society to realize 
 mutual harmony and benefit together with employees

Fulfilling social responsibilities to stakeholders surrounding the Company, beyond economic 
aspects to encompass compliance, customer satisfaction, environmental preservation, and 
social contribution with the aim of continuously developing in partnership with society.

Basic CSR Policy
Based on the corporate philosophy rooted in its founding spirit, Promise will provide 
quality services to its customers through its core business activities and strive to secure 
an appropriate level of profits alongside its uncompromising core commitment to 
compliance. Furthermore, we will strive to fully harmonize stakeholder satisfaction at a 
high level by actively contributing to society in a number of ways, such as through 
environmental preservation, welfare, and education. With these efforts, we intend to exist 
and prosper in concert with society.



The Nucleus of CSR at Promise

Promise announced its Code of Ethics in 
January 1999. The code consists of three 
elements. First is our commitment to 
stakeholders (customers, business partners, 
shareholders, and employees), who have a 
strong interest in Promise’s business opera-
tions, the community, and the environment. 
Second is a Code of Conduct that defi nes 
how to fulfi ll our promises to stakehold-
ers. Third is the organization that oversees 
corporate ethics.

 

CSR Activities

Stakeholders are all vital to the business operations of the Promise Group. Offering customers products and services with outstanding convenience 
and safety is just one aspect of these operations. We are also committed to fulfi lling our responsibility to stakeholders to fulfi ll all our social, 
environmental, and other obligations.

Our Promise to customers:
We will be a good partner for our customers by supplying fi nancial 
services. Our goal is to become “Personal Main Bank” that offers 
customers outstanding convenience and safety.

Our Promise to business partners:
We will always make fair and proper selections of alliance partners, 
vendors, and other business partners based on our Guidelines for 
Selecting Business Partners. Furthermore, we will periodically review 
these selections to maintain fairness.

Our Promise to shareholders and investors:
We will maintain the transparency of our business activities through 
the timely and aggressive disclosure of information to gain the 
understanding and support of our shareholders and investors.

Our Promise to society:
We will move forward along with society by conducting a broad 
range of CSR activities in order to fulfi ll our goal of contributing to 
sound social progress as a responsible corporate citizen.

Our Promise for the environment:
We position environmental protection as one of the most important 
responsibilities of any company. Promise incorporates a variety of 
environmental activities in its business operations and is producing 
signifi cant benefi ts by performing these activities on a continuous 
basis.

Our Promise to employees:
We view employees as a valuable asset and have many programs to 
support our employees in three ways: training, working conditions, 
and welfare. Through these programs, we provide employees with a 
workplace where they can fully develop and utilize their skills.
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Promise
Code of Ethics

Founding spirit and
corporate philosophy

Keidanren Corporate
Behavior Charter

Globally accepted
standards for behavior
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Millions of Yen

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Results of Operations:
   Interest on consumer loans ¥261,479 ¥322,849 ¥346,726 ¥344,797 ¥360,587 ¥352,330

   Other operating income 74,311 64,481 43,718 23,746 19,749 14,769

   Total operating income 338,982 387,950 391,239 368,916 381,297 369,860

   Financial expenses 20,444 22,034 20,197 15,453 15,497 17,777

   General and administrative expenses 171,578 264,183 204,990 312,455 171,920 124,462

   Credit losses including provision for 
      uncollectible loans 127,833 169,224 102,458 244,007 125,806 97,540

   Total operating expenses 320,488 455,987 328,265 572,239 313,945 241,559

   Operating profi t (loss) 18,494 (68,037) 62,974 (203,323) 67,352 128,301

   Income (loss) before income taxes and 
      minority interests 12,895 (77,741) 44,586 (390,317) 71,332 127,174

   Net income (loss) 14,567 (125,123) 15,955 (378,283) 42,047 75,379

Financial Position:
   Consumer loans receivable: Principal ¥1,297,985 ¥1,539,430 ¥1,747,736 ¥1,491,836 ¥1,580,983 ¥1,599,636

   Allowance for credit losses (Current assets) 245,372 295,579 343,576 300,975 135,441 130,353

   Total current assets 1,397,844 1,578,934 1,823,888 1,436,829 1,598,528 1,643,604 

   Total investments and advances 92,775 97,781 112,638 49,607 74,815 51,486

   Property and equipment, net 64,188 67,271 71,648 73,247 76,728 79,528

   Fixed leasehold deposits 9,036 9,645 10,881 9,857 10,115 10,525

   Total assets 1,563,843 1,753,632 2,019,055 1,569,540 1,760,186 1,785,143

   Short-term borrowings, commercial paper 
      and current portion of long-term debt 474,912 437,641 489,887 318,109 334,833 320,831

   Total current liabilities 626,947 592,479 642,979 419,429 409,714 367,633

   Long-term debt 448,798 674,198 755,155 578,281 549,950 595,425

   Total long-term liabilities 637,290 877,963 957,191 763,939 562,054 612,669

   Total net assets 299,607 283,190 418,885 386,172 776,358 793,987

Other Financial Data and Indicators:
   Depreciation and amortization ¥7,602 ¥7,960 ¥7,758 ¥7,525 ¥9,243 ¥6,870

   Ratio of consolidated to non-consolidated 
      operating income (Times) 1.59 1.60 1.42 1.23 1.23 1.18

   Ratio of consolidated to non-consolidated 
      net income (Times) 2.01 0.96 2.54 1.00 1.02 1.10

   Return on equity (ROE) (%) 5.81 (40.27) 4.20 (65.48) 5.35 10.53

   Return on assets (ROA) (%) 0.88 (6.63) 0.88 (22.72) 2.37 4.30

Amounts per Share (Yen):

   Net income (loss)

     Basic ¥114.86 ¥(986.64) ¥125.81 ¥(2,982.87) ¥321.38 ¥576.05

     Diluted 102.77 — — — — 575.88

   Cash dividends 10.00 20.00 40.00 105.00 105.00 105.00

Notes: 1. Depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of cash fl ows excludes new common stock issue expense and amortization expenses.
2.  Net income (loss), basic, per share has been restated to conform with International Accounting Standards’ Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15 

(APB-15), “Earnings per Share.”
3.  Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company applied a new accounting standard for presentation of net assets in the balance sheet and the 

related implementation guidance. Due to this accounting standard, minority interests is now presented as a component of net assets.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Overview

Japan’s consumer fi nance industry continues to shrink

During the year ended March 31, 2010, Japan’s GDP posted an 
effective growth rate of 5.0% according to preliminary data. 
One reason was a recovery in external demand following the 
global fi nancial crisis. Japan’s GDP also benefi ted from a slow 
upturn in corporate earnings as emergency economic stimulus 
measures produced growth in private-sector demand. However, 
the recovery is probably not self-sustaining. The economic 
picture remains generally negative due to high unemployment 
and weak consumer spending.
     In the consumer fi nance industry, the operating environ-
ment became even more challenging as the consumer fi nance 
market continued to shrink. The consistently high volume of 
interest repayment claims and the full enforcement of the 
Money Lending Business Law forced many consumer fi nance 
companies to downsize or terminate their operations. 

Interest repayment claims remain high

Since December 2009, there has been a year-on-year decline in 
the number of monthly interest repayment claims at Promise, 
which is a leading indicator for cash repayments. However, the 
actual number of claims has remained high since August 2009. 
Furthermore, interest repayments on a cash basis are still high 
as these repayments increased 13.6% to ¥74.0 billion.
     To overcome these challenges, the Promise Group is ex-
panding its business alliance with the Sumitomo Mitsui Finan-
cial Group (SMFG) and taking actions in line with the Business 
Structural Reform Plan that was announced in January 2010. 
This plan has four central themes: changes to marketing activi-
ties and reorganization; structural cost reforms; performing 
a review of marketing strategies; and performing a review of 
Group strategies. Our goal is to establish a base of operations 
that is consistently profi table and compatible with market 
conditions following full enforcement of the Money Lending 
Business Law.

Earnings

Operating Income

Interest income on consumer loans down but higher loan 
guarantee revenues

Total operating income decreased 12.6%, to ¥339.0 billion, 
mainly because of lower interest income on consumer loans 
caused by declines in consumer loans outstanding and interest 
rates. Consumer loans outstanding decreased due to the high 
volume of loan losses associated with interest repayments and 
the use of tighter loan approval standards to prepare for full 
enforcement of the Money Lending Business Law.
     Consumer loans outstanding were down ¥241.4 billion, or 
15.7%, to ¥1,298.0 billion and interest income on consumer 
loans decreased ¥61.4 billion, or 19.0%, to ¥261.5 billion. How-
ever, there was a 16.4% increase in loan guarantee revenues to 
¥29.0 billion due to expansion of the alliance with Sumitomo 
Mitsui Banking Corporation (SMBC).
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     Guaranteed loans outstanding totaled ¥544.1 billion. In-
creasing guaranteed loans has been a strategic priority at 
the Promise Group for several years. In particular, there was 
an increase of 14.0%, to ¥314.3 billion, in the guaranteed 
loans outstanding through the SMBC alliance. There was 
also solid growth in the balance of guaranteed loans through 
relationships with regional banks or other fi nancial institutions.

Operating Expenses

Big drop in credit costs brings decline in operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased 29.7%, to ¥320.5 billion, as 
provision for losses on interest repayments fell 76.1%, to ¥24.6 
billion, and credit losses including provision for uncollectible 
loans declined 24.5%, to ¥127.8 billion. Another reason was 
lower other general and administrative expenses.
     Provision for losses on interest payments was lower despite 
an increase in interest repaid because we used allowances 
associated with interest repayments to cover most of these 
expenses. Credit losses including provision for uncollectible 
loans were lower because of a large reversal of the allowance 
for losses on loan principal associated with interest repayments 
and a decline in loan losses. The decrease in selling, general 
and administrative expenses refl ects changes to the Promise 
Group’s marketing framework as well as cost reductions result-
ing from consolidating head offi ce functions and reexamining 
various business operations. Compared with the previous fi scal 
year, there were decreases of 16.3% in personnel expenses, 
to ¥37.6 billion; 15.3% in rental expenses, to ¥8.5 billion; and 
10.2% in fee expenses, to ¥30.0 billion.

Decrease in provision for losses on interest repayments 
and credit losses including provision for uncollectible 
loans, and allowances situation

Interest repaid for the year ended March 31, 2010, increased 
¥17.1 billion to ¥114.9 billion. However, changes in allowance 
for losses on interest repayments declined ¥95.4 billion due to 
use of allowances associated with interest repayments to cover 
most of the interest repaid. As a result, provision for losses on 
interest repayments decreased ¥78.4 billion compared to the 
previous fi scal year.
     Allowances for interest repayments totaled ¥311.0 billion at 
the end of the fi scal year.

     On the other hand, credit losses including provision for 
uncollectible loans decreased ¥41.3 billion from one year earlier 
mainly for two reasons. First, loan losses decreased ¥27.1 bil-
lion because consumer loans outstanding declined as we took 
steps aimed at improving the quality of our loan portfolio. 
Second, there was a ¥14.2 billion decrease in changes in allow-
ances for credit losses, including the portion not included in 
the consolidated fi nancial statements.

(Millions of Yen)

2009/3 2010/3 Differences

Loan losses ¥204,678 ¥177,583 ¥(27,095)

Changes in allowance for credit losses (47,998) (49,444) (1,446)

Credit losses including provision 
   for uncollectible loans ¥169,223 ¥127,833 ¥(41,390)

Interest repaid ¥ 97,862 ¥114,934 ¥ 17,072

Changes in allowance for losses 
   on interest repayments 5,160 (90,323) (95,482)

Provision for losses on interest 
   repayments ¥103,023 ¥ 24,611 ¥(78,412)

Operating Profi t / Net Income

A return to bottom-line profi tability

Operating profi t amounted to ¥18.5 billion compared to an 
operating loss in the previous fi scal year. As was explained 
earlier, despite a decrease in operating income,  there was a 
big drop in credit costs, mainly provision for losses on interest 
repayments and credit losses including provision for uncollect-
ible loans, and general and administrative expenses were lower.
     Income taxes were much lower because Promise wrote off 
all ¥40.9 billion of its deferred tax assets at the end of March 
2009. There were also declines in loss on valuation of invest-
ments in securities and in subsidiaries. The result was net in-
come of ¥14.6 billion compared with the previous fi scal year’s 
net loss of ¥125.1 billion.
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Financial Position

Increases in retained earnings and the equity ratio

Total assets decreased ¥189.8 billion compared to the previ-
ous fi scal year-end, to ¥1,563.8 billion. The main reason was a 
decline of ¥241.4 billion in consumer loans outstanding, which 
account for more than 80% of total assets. This was attribut-
able to the withdrawal of allowance for credit losses.
     Total liabilities decreased ¥206.2 billion to ¥1,264.2 billion. 
This was mainly attributable to a ¥127.1 billion decline in funds 
procured (interest-bearing debt) as consumer loans outstand-
ing decreased. There were also decreases in the allowance for 
losses on interest repayments and the allowance for business 
reorganization losses.
     Total net assets increased ¥16.4 billion to ¥299.6 billion. 
Retained earnings increased ¥14.6 billion because of the fi scal 
year’s net income and there was a ¥2.2 billion increase in net 
unrealized gain on securities as market prices of investment 
securities increased. The equity ratio improved by 2.8 points to 
16.6% as a result.

Fund Procurement

A consistently high share of long-term, 
fi xed interest rate funds

The fi nancial strategy of the Promise Group places emphasis 
on increasing equity, preserving the stability of fund procure-
ment activities, and maintaining a high level of liquidity to 
be prepared for unforeseen events. As of March 31, 2010, the 
ratio of long-term fund procurement (including the portion to 
be repaid or redeemed within one year) accounted for 83.8%, 
the actual fi xed ratio for 67.0%, and the ratio of direct fund 
procurement for 41.6%. The average interest rate on funds 
procured was 1.88%.
     Interest-bearing debt totaled ¥995.7 billion at March 31, 
2010. As an equity-method affi liate of mega-bank SMBC, the 
Promise Group has a reliable source of indirect fi nancing.
     Cash and cash equivalents totaled ¥147.1 billion on March 
31, 2010, giving the Promise Group an adequate level of liquidity.
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Fund Procurement
Millions of Yen

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3

Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated

Total fund procurement
 (Interest-bearing debt) 884,783 763,561 896,390 759,216 1,254,724 815,159 1,122,839 720,133 1,011,609 658,881
  Short-term fund procurement 137,726 25,432 137,123 5,000 262,492 101,000 168,903 — 163,903 —
    Ratio of short-term fund 
      procurement (%) 15.6 3.3 15.3 0.7 20.9 12.4 15.0 — 16.2 —
    Short-term borrowings 117,726 5,432 137,123 5,000 237,492 101,000 148,403 — 152,203 —
    Commercial paper (CP) 20,000 20,000 — — 25,000 — 20,500 — 11,700 —
  Long-term fund procurement 747,057 738,129 759,267 754,216 992,231 714,159 953,936 720,133 847,706 658,881
    Ratio of long-term fund 
      procurement (%) 84.4 96.7 84.7 99.3 79.1 87.6 85.0 100.0 83.8 100.0
    Long-term borrowings 512,057 503,129 519,267 514,216 607,630 423,739 564,199 417,696 438,250 341,425
    Fixed interest rate 317,505 314,356 248,391 245,691 267,228 178,871 228,037 149,217 185,430 132,105
      Variable interest rate 194,552 188,773 270,876 268,525 340,402 244,868 336,162 268,479 252,820 209,320
        Interest rate swaps and caps 129,979 129,979 137,835 137,835 209,561 126,403 159,532 102,213 98,699 65,220
    Convertible bonds — — — — — — 42,000 42,000 42,000 42,000
    Straight bonds 235,000 235,000 240,000 240,000 374,920 290,420 336,737 260,437 279,556 225,456
    Asset backed securities and trust
      certifi cates — — — — 9,681 — 11,000 — 87,900 50,000
Actual fi xed ratio (%) 77.1 89.0 69.9 82.1 68.7 73.1 69.2 76.9 67.0 78.1
Average interest rate on fund 
  procurement (%) 1.53 1.61 1.51 1.58 1.75 1.76 1.85 1.81 1.88 1.82
Notes: 1.  Asset backed securities and trust certifi cates in each term are fully/partially not shown on the balance sheet, and are as follows:
  March 2008 - 9,681 million yen, March 2010 - 15,900 million yen.
 2.   Actual fi xed ratio = (long-term borrowings at fi xed interest rates + long-term borrowings with interest rate swaps and caps + straight bonds + convertible bonds)

÷total fund procurement 
 3. Figures include interest on bonds and CP but exclude commission payments on interest rate swaps and caps. 

Fund Procurement, by Category
Millions of Yen

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3

Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated Consolidated
Non-

Consolidated

Total fund procurement
 (Interest-bearing debt) 884,783 763,561 896,390 759,216 1,254,724 815,159 1,122,839 720,133 1,011,609 658,881
  Total borrowings 629,783 508,561 656,390 519,216 845,123 524,739 712,601 417,696 590,453 341,425
    City banks and other 258,662 150,791 316,241 186,493 448,661 255,741 404,912 221,017 360,890 197,941
    Regional banks 28,675 24,026 38,973 35,305 119,939 27,841 88,961 22,720 68,329 16,154
    Trust banks 134,188 129,004 114,282 113,670 96,841 81,866 73,608 57,494 63,758 50,316
    Non-Japanese banks 11,893 9,000 16,374 14,000 20,715 18,000 20,406 19,000 11,806 10,000
    Cooperative fi nancial institutions 10,831 10,208 20,606 19,837 28,689 17,350 25,534 18,095 17,200 12,622
    Life insurance companies 168,238 168,238 134,677 134,677 96,403 92,015 71,061 69,172 47,674 47,015
    Non-life insurance companies 15,449 15,449 14,334 14,334 12,096 10,226 10,373 9,498 7,082 6,676
    Leasing, fi nance and other companies 1,845 1,845 900 900 700 700 700 700 700 700
    Consolidated subsidiaries — — — — — 21,000 — — — —
    Other — — — — 21,076 — 17,044 — 13,012 —
  Corporate bonds and other 255,000 255,000 240,000 240,000 409,601 290,420 410,237 302,437 421,156 317,456
    Convertible bonds — — — — — — 42,000 42,000 42,000 42,000
    Straight bonds 235,000 235,000 240,000 240,000 374,920 290,420 336,737 260,437 279,556 225,456
    Commercial paper (CP) 20,000 20,000 — — 25,000 — 20,500 — 11,700 —
    Asset backed securities and trust 
      certifi cates — — — — 9,681 — 11,000 — 87,900 50,000
Notes: 1. The City banks and other category includes Shinsei Bank, Limited and Aozora Bank, Ltd.
 2. Asset backed securities and trust certifi cates in each term are fully/partially not shown on the balance sheet, and are as follows:
  March 2008 - 9,681 million yen, March 2010 - 15,900 million yen.
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Cash Flows

Small increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents increased ¥4.1 billion, or 2.9%, to 
¥147.1 billion at the end of the fi scal year.
     Net cash provided by operating activities increased ¥67.0 
billion to ¥177.9 billion. Major sources of cash were income 
before income taxes and minority interests of ¥12.9 billion, a 
¥241.4 billion decrease in consumer loans receivable: principal, 
and a ¥61.0 billion increase in securitized loan liabilities. A 
¥90.3 billion decrease in allowance for losses on interest repay-
ments and a ¥50.2 billion decrease in the allowance for credit 
losses were the main uses of cash.
     Net cash provided by investing activities was ¥11.3 billion, 
mainly due to a ¥11.9 billion decrease of securities. These 
sales refl ect the decision to reduce investment activities as 
the Promise Group moves ahead with business structural re-
forms in the extremely diffi cult operating environment in the 
consumer fi nance industry.
     Net cash used in fi nancing activities increased ¥48.4 billion 
to ¥185.6 billion. Cash was used mainly for a net decrease of 
¥125.9 billion in long-term debt and payments of ¥57.2 billion 
for redemption of bonds.

 

Outlook for the Year Ending March 31, 2011

Pursuing business structural reforms to establish 
a stable profi t structure

Revenues of Japan’s consumer fi nance industry are expected to 
decline in the year ending March 31, 2011, as interest rates on 
consumer loans and consumer loans outstanding both decrease 
due to the full enforcement of the Money Lending Business 
Law. The consistently high volume of interest repayment claims 
is another source of concern. These factors point to a continu-
ation of the challenging conditions in the consumer fi nance 
market in Japan.
     The Promise Group is determined to achieve the goal of 
establishing a stable profi t structure that can adapt to changes 
taking place in the currently intensely competitive consumer 
fi nance market. We will pursue the Business Structural Reform 
Plan by signifi cantly reducing costs while enacting reforms to 
create a marketing framework that can provide quality cus-
tomer services along with high operating effi ciency. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Promise Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries    March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 3)

2010 2009 2010 
ASSETS 
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) ¥ 147,074 ¥ 142,974 $ 1,563,790 
Time deposits 2,692 4,102 28,625 
Receivables and consumer loans:
 Notes and accounts receivable 79,516 83,641 845,466 
 Consumer loans receivable (Notes 5 and 12):
  Principal 1,297,985 1,539,430 13,801,011 
  Accrued interest income 16,816 18,283 178,795 
 Less: Allowance for credit losses (Note 6) (245,372) (295,579) (2,608,957)

1,148,945 1,345,775 12,216,315 
Prepaid expenses 1,152 1,295 12,249 
Deferred tax assets (Note 21) 8,464 5,815 89,998 
Other current assets 89,517 78,973 951,800 
   Total current assets 1,397,844 1,578,934 14,862,777 

Investments and advances:
Investments in securities (Note 8) 12,256 9,351 130,312 
 Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 11,956 12,048 127,126 
Investments in equity other than capital stock 3 4 34 
Long-term prepaid expenses 883 1,341 9,390 
 Goodwill 47,824 54,200 508,493 
Deferred tax assets (Note 21) 4,037 2,348 42,922 
Long-term deposits 2,500 2,500 26,582 
Other investments and advances 13,914 16,368 147,946 
Less: Allowance for credit losses (Note 6) (599) (379) (6,369)
   Total investments and advances 92,774 97,781 986,436 

Property and equipment, net (Note 10) 64,188 67,271 682,491 
Fixed leasehold deposits (Note 11) 9,036 9,645 96,080 

   Total assets ¥1,563,843 ¥1,753,632 $16,627,784 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 3)

2010 2009 2010 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 
Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowings (Note 12) ¥ 152,203 ¥ 148,403 $ 1,618,320 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 12) 311,009 268,738 3,306,844
Accounts payable 18,066 20,156 192,093
Accrued income taxes (Note 21) 1,601 2,270 17,026
Accruals for debt guarantees (Note 2 (12)) 18,669 17,444 198,500
Accrued expenses 7,380 8,919 78,464
Allowance for losses on sales of receivables — 1,112 —
Allowance for business reorganization losses — 10,176 —
Allowance for losses on interest repayments (Note 2 (13)) 73,108 87,595 777,331
Commercial paper (Note 12) 11,700 20,500 124,402
Allowance for point services (Note 2 (14)) 690 810 7,337
Allowance for business restructuring expenses (Note 2 (15)) 3,292 391 35,006
Other current liabilities 29,229 5,965 310,775
   Total current liabilities 626,947 592,479 6,666,098

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 12) 448,798 674,198 4,771,908
Securitized loan liabilities 72,000 11,000 765,550
Non-current accounts payable 347 185 3,689
Accrued severance indemnities (Note 13) 5,627 7,702 59,834
Allowance for losses on interest repayments (Note 2 (13)) 107,517 183,353 1,143,193
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 21) 789 — 8,389
Other long-term liabilities 2,212 1,525 23,511
   Total long-term liabilities 637,290 877,963 6,776,074 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 5, 12, 14 and 15)

NET ASSETS (Notes 2 (21) and 16)
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock:   Authorized—300,000,000 shares 
  Issued—134,866,665 shares 80,738 80,738 858,455 

Capital surplus 127,333 127,333 1,353,883 
Retained earnings 112,867 98,223 1,200,069 
Less: Treasury stock—8,051,468 shares (57,425) (57,425) (610,584)
   Total shareholders’ equity 263,511 248,868 2,801,823 

Revaluation and translation adjustments:
Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities 776 (1,464) 8,255 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (4,948) (5,231) (52,607)
   Total revaluation and translation adjustments (4,171) (6,695) (44,352)

Minority interests 40,244 41,017 427,896 
Stock acquisition rights 23 — 245 

   Total net assets 299,607 283,190 3,185,612 
   Total liabilities and net assets ¥1,563,843 ¥1,753,632 $16,627,784 
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Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
Promise Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries    For the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 3)

2010 2009 2010 
Operating income:

Interest on consumer loans ¥261,480 ¥ 322,849 $2,780,220 
Sales 3,191 620 33,933 
Other operating income (Note 17) 74,311 64,481 790,125 
  Total operating income 338,982 387,950 3,604,278 

Operating expenses:
Financial expenses (Note 18) 20,444 22,034 217,377 
Cost of sales 633 546 6,729 
General and administrative expenses (Note 19) 171,578 264,183 1,824,326 
Credit losses including provision for uncollectible loans (Note 6) 127,833 169,224 1,359,206 
  Total operating expenses 320,488 455,987 3,407,638 
  Operating profit (loss) 18,494 (68,037) 196,640 

Other income (expenses):
Interest and dividend income on investments 377 1,284 4,011 
Interest expense (857) (1,322) (9,117)
Equity in earnings of Tokumei Kumiai — 0 —
Net gain on sales of investments in securities (Note 8) 41 652 433 
Loss on valuation of investments in securities (Note 8) (6) (3,278) (67)
Net loss on sales or disposal of property and equipment (1,046) (1,711) (11,125)
Bad debt expense (512) (822) (5,444)
Expense for relocation of offices (162) (68) (1,724)
Impairment loss (Note 20) (578) (453) (6,150)
Provision for losses on business restructuring expenses (3,292) — (35,006)
Loss on business restructuring expenses (61) (1,553) (645)
Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries (371) (5,372) (3,940)
Loss on sales of investments in subsidiaries (627) — (6,664)
Loss on rescue package of subsidiaries — (277) —
Equity in net gain of affiliated companies 302 1,278 3,208 
Reversal of reserve for bonus 687 108 7,300 
Liquidation dividend 546 — 5,810 
Gain on sales of shares of subsidiaries (Note 25) — 3,193 —
Provision for losses on sales of credit — (1,112) —
Fee expense — (500) —
Other, net (40) 247 (409)
  Total other expenses, net (5,599) (9,704) (59,529)
  Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests 12,895 (77,741) 137,111 

Income taxes (Note 21):
Current (3,097) (5,283) (32,932)
Prior years (4) — (43)
Deferred 4,379 (40,370) 46,558 

1,278 (45,652) 13,583 
Minority interests in net income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries 394 (1,730) 4,187 

  Net income (loss) ¥ 14,567 ¥(125,123) $ 154,881 

Yen
U.S. Dollars

(Note 3)

Amount per share (Note 24):
Net income (loss):
 Basic ¥114.86 ¥(986.64) $1.22
 Diluted 102.77 — 1.09
Cash dividends 10.00 20.00 0.11

Weighted average number of shares (Thousands):
Basic 126,815 126,817 
Diluted — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Promise Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries    For the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen
 Shareholders’ equity Revaluation and translation adjustments

Number of 
shares of 
common

stock
Common

stock
Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Total 
shareholders’

equity

Net
unrealized
gain (loss)

on securities

Net
deferred
hedge
losses

Foreign
currency

translation
adjustments

Total
revaluation

and
translation

adjustments

Stock 
acquisition

rights
Minority 
interests

Total
net

assets

Balance at March 31, 2008 134,866,665 ¥80,738 ¥138,413 ¥ 217,327 ¥(57,424) ¥ 379,054 ¥ 96 ¥ (7) ¥ 173 ¥ 262 ¥ — ¥39,569 ¥ 418,885 
Net loss — — — (125,123) — (125,123) — — — — — — (125,123)
Cash dividends paid — — — (5,073) — (5,073) — — — — — — (5,073)
Increase due to exclusion of 
 companies in consolidation — — — 11,077 — 11,077 — — — — — — 11,077 
Decrease due to exclusion of 
 companies in consolidation — — (11,077) — — (11,077) — — — — — — (11,077)
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (6) (6) — — — — — — (6)
Others — — — 14 — 14 — — — — — — 14 
Sales of treasury stock — — (4) — 5 1 — — — — — — 1 
Changes of items other  
 than shareholders’ equity — — — — — — (1,561) 7 (5,403) (6,957) — 1,448 (5,509)

Balance at March 31, 2009 134,866,665 ¥80,738 ¥127,333 ¥ 98,223 ¥(57,425) ¥ 248,868 ¥(1,464) ¥  — ¥(5,231) ¥(6,695) ¥ — ¥41,017 ¥ 283,190 
Net income — — — 14,567 — 14,567 — — — — — — 14,567 
Increase due to inclusion of 
 companies in consolidation — — — 77 — 77 — — — — — — 77 
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (0) (0) — — — — — — (0) 
Changes of items other 
 than shareholders’ equity — — — — — — 2,240 — 283 2,523 23 (773) 1,773 

Balance at March 31, 2010 134,866,665 ¥80,738 ¥127,333 ¥ 112,867 ¥(57,425) ¥ 263,511 ¥ 776 ¥  — ¥(4,948) ¥(4,171) ¥23 ¥40,244 ¥ 299,607
Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 3)

 Shareholders’ equity Revaluation and translation adjustments

Common
stock

Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Total 
shareholders’

equity

Net
unrealized
gain (loss)

on securities

Net
deferred
hedge
losses

Foreign
currency

translation
adjustments

Total
revaluation

and
translation

adjustments

Stock 
acquisition

rights
Minority 
interests

Total
net

assets

Balance at March 31, 2009 $858,455 $1,353,883 $1,044,367 $(610,582) $2,646,123 $(15,566) $— $(55,616) $(71,182) $   — $436,115 $3,011,057 
Net income — — 154,881 — 154,881 — — — — — — 154,881 
Increase due to inclusion of 
 companies in consolidation — — 821 — 821 — — — — — — 821 
Purchase of treasury stock — — — (2) (2) — — — — — — (2)
Changes of items other 
 than shareholders’ equity — — — — — 23,821 — 3,009 26,830 245 (8,220) 18,855 

Balance at March 31, 2010 $858,455 $1,353,883 $1,200,069 $(610,584) $2,801,823 $ 8,255 $— $(52,607) $(44,352) $245 $427,896 $3,185,612 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

[Note Concerning Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets]
For the stock of Tamport Co., Ltd. and Sun Life Co., Ltd. that was received through exchanges of stock in the years ended March 31, 2001 and 
2002, “Capital Linkage Procedure for Establishing Complete Parent Company Relationship Using Stock Exchange or Transfer System” (Accounting 
Standards Committee Research Report No. 6, final revision February 14, 2001) was applied and has been applied in each subsequent fiscal year. 
 In the year ended March 31, 2009, Promise sold all stock of both of these companies. Due to the resulting termination of the accounting 
procedures used in the years ended March 31, 2001 and 2002, there was a decrease in the consolidated capital surplus and an increase of the 
same amount in  consolidated retained earnings.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Promise Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries    For the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 3)

2010 2009 2010 
Operating activities:

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 12,895 ¥ (77,741) $ 137,111 
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation 7,602 7,960 80,830 
 Impairment loss 578 453 6,150 
 Amortization of Goodwill 6,376 6,377 67,796 
 Decrease in allowance for credit losses (50,151) (46,053) (533,235)
 Increase in accruals for debt guarantees 1,225 2,541 13,029 
 Increase (decrease) in allowance for losses on interest repayments (90,323) 15,682 (960,370)
 Increase (decrease) in allowance for business reorganization losses (10,176) 10,176 (108,198)
 Increase (decrease) in allowance for business restructuring expenses 2,901 (5,686) 30,849 
 Equity in gain of affiliated companies (302) (1,278) (3,208)
 Net gain on sales of investments in securities (38) (650) (399)
 Loss on valuation of investments in securities 6 3,278 67 
 Loss (gain) on sales of shares of subsidiaries 627 (3,193) 6,664 
 Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries 371 5,372 3,941 
 Loss on sales or disposal of property and equipment 1,046 1,707 11,125 
 Decrease in consumer loans receivable: Principal 241,445 204,882 2,567,200 
 Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable 4,166 (15,531) 44,298 
 Increase in claim for indemnities (4,320) (5,801) (45,929)
 Decrease (increase) in purchased receivables (2,266) 1,790 (24,091)
 Decrease in accounts payable (37) (582) (393)
 Increase in securitized loan liabilities 61,000 11,000 648,591 
 Income taxes paid (3,773) (9,284) (40,120)
 Other, net (905) 5,569 (9,666)
  Net cash provided by operating activities 177,947 110,988 1,892,042 

Investing activities:
Decrease (increase) of time deposits 1,444 (4,984) 15,355 
Decrease (increase) of securities 11,900 (900) 126,528 
Payment for purchase of property and equipment (660) (2,077) (7,016)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 330 607 3,508 
Payment for purchase of intangible fixed assets (3,038) (7,021) (32,303)
Proceeds from sales of intangible fixed assets 0 1,612 3 
Payment for purchase of investments in securities — (1,891) —
Proceeds from sales of investments in securities 85 889 905 
Payment for purchase of shares of subsidiaries (88) (2,465) (931)
 Proceeds from sales of shares of subsidiaries 1,042 63 11,077 
Payment for sales of shares of subsidiaries (77) (15,582) (814)
Increase in loans (667) (8,221) (7,094)
Decrease in loans 259 9,388 2,759 
Decrease in other investments 739 670 7,854 
  Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 11,270 (29,912) 119,833 
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 3)

2010 2009 2010 
Financing activities:

Proceeds from long-term debt 100,327 162,760 1,066,743 
Repayments of long-term debt (226,275) (205,457) (2,405,903)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds, net of expenses — 41,861 —
Redemption of bonds (57,200) (38,200) (608,187)
Decrease in short-term borrowings (2,139) (92,771) (22,743)
Payment for finance lease (98) (80) (1,046)
Increase in treasury stock — (4) —
Cash dividends paid (294) (5,073) (3,123)
Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (2) (262) (18)
Other 39 — 410 
  Net cash used in financing activities (185,642) (137,226) (1,973,868)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 372 (6,292) 3,951 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,946 (62,442) 41,958 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 142,974 205,052 1,520,195 
Effect of the increase in scope of merger — 364 —
Effect of the increase in scope of inclusion of 
 non-consolidated subsidiaries 154  — 1,637 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ¥ 147,074 ¥ 142,974 $ 1,563,790 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the period for:
 Interest ¥ 19,914 ¥ 21,923 $ 211,741 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



32

Promise Co., Ltd.    Annual Report 2010

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Promise Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1. BASIS OF PRESENTING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accounting records of Promise Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries are maintained in accordance 
with the provisions set forth in the Corporation Law of Japan (the “Corporation Law”) and in conformity with accounting principles 
 generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

The accounts of overseas subsidiaries consolidated with the Company are based on the financial statements prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) prevailing in the countries where the subsidiaries have been incorporated. Financial 
statements have not been materially affected by the differences between the GAAP  prevailing in these countries and Japanese GAAP. 
Therefore, no adjustments have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements to present the accounts of the 
subsidiaries in compliance with Japanese accounting principles.

Certain account balances, as disclosed in the basic consolidated financial statements in Japan, have been summarized or reclassified to 
the extent deemed necessary to enable presentation in a form which is more familiar to readers outside Japan.

Financial information for 2009 would be provided for convenience of users.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) Scope and Significant Accounting Policies
The Company had 22 subsidiaries and 1 affiliate as of March 31, 2010. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company and 15 of its subsidiaries (together, the “Companies”) as of March 31, 2010, which are listed below:
Name Country of incorporation Fiscal year-end

SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD. *1,2,3 Japan March 31
At-Loan Co., Ltd. *1 Japan March 31
POCKET CARD CO., LTD. *1,2,3,4 Japan February 28
POCKET DIRECT CO., LTD. Japan February 28
Do Financial Service Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
AZ Card Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
PAL Servicer Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
Sanyo Shinpan Servicer Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
PAL Life Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
Net Future Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
Car Conveni Club Co., Ltd. Japan December 31
Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd. Japan March 31
PROMISE (HONG KONG) CO., LTD. Hong Kong December 31
Liang Jing Co., Ltd. Taiwan December 31
PROMISE (THAILAND) CO., LTD. Thailand December 31

*1. Special subsidiary
*2. The company submits a Securities Report (Yuka Shoken Hokokusho).
*3.  Consolidated subsidiary that accounts for more than 10% of consolidated operating income (after elimination of internal transactions) but where no 

earnings or other information is shown because the company submits a Securities Report (Yuka Shoken Hokokusho).
*4.  Categorized as subsidiary even though ownership does not exceed 50% because the Promise Group has effective control.

Car Conveni Club Co., Ltd. has been included in the scope of consolidation commencing with the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 due 
to the increased materiality of its business operations.

Cau-ichi Co., Ltd., which was a consolidated subsidiary in previous fiscal years, was excluded from the scope of consolidation commenc-
ing with the year ended March 31, 2010 due to the sale of all shares the Company owned.

SANYO ASSET MANAGEMENT CO., LTD., which was a consolidated subsidiary in previous fiscal years, was excluded from the scope of 
consolidation commencing with the year ended March 31, 2010 due to liquidation.

POCKET DIRECT CO., LTD., which was a consolidated subsidiary, was dissolved on March 1, 2010 due to its merger with consolidated 
subsidiary POCKET CARD CO., LTD.

The remaining 8 unconsolidated subsidiaries at March 31, 2010 were not consolidated because their aggregate amounts of sales, assets, 
net income and retained earnings (for net income and retained earnings, amounts corresponding to ownership) were not material to the 
consolidated results of operations, total assets, net income and retained earnings, respectively.

On the acquisition of a subsidiary, all of the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded at their 
fair value.
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Any material difference between the cost of investment in a subsidiary and the equity in its net assets at the date of acquisition, which is 
 presented as “Goodwill” on the consolidated balance sheets is amortized over 10 years.

For the purpose of preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements, all significant intercompany transactions, account 
 balances and unrealized profits among the Companies have been eliminated. The amounts of certain subsidiaries have been included in 
 consolidation on the basis of their fiscal periods ended December 31 and February 28.

(2) Application of the Equity Method
Investments in companies that the Company has significant influence or ownership of more than 20% but less than or equal to 50% are 
accounted for under the equity method. An affiliate accounted for under the equity method is listed below:

Name Country of incorporation
Equity ownership percentage

at March 31, 2010 Fiscal year-end

MOBIT CO., LTD. Japan 50.00% March 31

Under the equity method, investments are stated at cost plus/minus the Company’s equity in undistributed earnings (losses).
Any material difference between the cost of investment in an affiliated company and the equity in its net assets at the date of 

acquisition is amortized over 10 years.
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and the remaining affiliates are carried at cost and are not adjusted for equity in earnings 

(losses) of such subsidiaries and affiliates for each period because the effect of applying the equity method is not material.
MOBIT CO., LTD. listed above is a joint controlled company.

(3) Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements
The accounts of the overseas consolidated subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen by the methods prescribed under the statements 
issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council of Japan. Under this method, the assets and liabilities are translated at current 
rates, shareholders’ equity is translated at the historical rate and revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate for the 
respective periods.

Differences arising from the translations are recorded as “Foreign currency translation adjustments” in net assets.

(4) Recognition of Revenues
Interest income
Interest income on consumer loans is recognized when collections are made during each fiscal period. At the end of each fiscal period, the 
accrual basis is used to reflect the interest income earned, in accordance with Japanese tax practices, at the lower of interest rates  provided 
by the Interest Rate Restriction Law of Japan or contracted interest rates and any excess of contractual rates over statutory rates is not 
reflected for accounting purposes.

Other operating income
Loan guarantee fees are recognized based on the remaining balance of the guarantee. Commissions on credit card shopping service from 
 customers are recognized based on the remaining balance of the loans or the rule of 78 (seventy-eight). Commissions from franchisees are 
recognized at the time the loan was applied.

(5) Allowance for Credit Losses and Write-Offs
The allowance for credit losses of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are provided in an amount deemed necessary to cover 
 possible non-collectible accounts based on the percentage of their own actual experience of bad debt loss written-off against the balance 
of receivables and consumer loans. For certain credit losses including doubtful credit losses, each uncollectible debt is accounted based on 
the probability of collection.

Consumer loans are written-off against the allowance for credit losses when both interest and principal of the loans have been unpaid 
for a certain specified period of time or after follow-up requests for payment and/or uncollectibility of accounts is clearly demonstrated by 
 conditions such as the customer’s bankruptcy or death. 

The written-off balances of these consumer loans are managed by the special collection department. This department makes an effort to 
 collect the previously written-off balances as long as these balances are legally collectible. When the  previously written-off balances and 
the related interest are subsequently collected, the collected amounts are included in “Other operating income” in the  accompanying 
consoli dated statements of income (loss) in the year of collection.

(6) Valuation of Securities
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have adopted the Financial Accounting Standard on “Accounting for Financial Instruments” 
issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council of Japan. Following the standard, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries’ 
 management determine the appropriate classification of securities, and record trading securities in current assets and other securities as 
investments in  securities.

Marketable “Other securities” are stated at market value. Adjustments to market value are recorded as an increase or a decrease in net 
assets, net of tax. Under the Corporate Law, unrealized gain on securities, net of tax is not available for distribution as dividends. Costs 
of their sales are  determined by the moving average method. “Other securities” which are not marketable are stated at cost, cost being 
determined by the moving average method.
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All equity securities and debt securities as of March 31, 2010 were classified as “Other securities,” which represents securities other than 
trading or held-to-maturity securities.

An impairment loss on deposits for golf club membership is also required to be recognized in accordance with the standard.

(7) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment (other than lease asset and new buildings acquired on or after April 1, 1998, to which the straight-line method 
is applied) are depre ciated by the declining-balance method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful lives is 
principally from 3 to 50 years for buildings and structures and from 2 to 20 years for fixtures and equipment.

Effective from the first half ended September 30, 2007, in accordance with revision of the Corporation Tax Law (Partial Revision of 
Income Tax Law, Law No. 6, March 30, 2007) and the Cabinet Order (Cabinet Order No. 83 of March 30, 2007) for the partial revision of 
the Corporation Tax Law Enforcement Guidance in the year ended March 31, 2007, depreciation on property and equipment acquired on 
and after April 1, 2007, is computed in accordance with the provisions of the revised Corporation Tax Law. The effect of this change on 
period profit/loss is insignificant.

Furthermore, the residual value of assets after maximum permissible depreciation, acquired before and on March 31, 2007, is depreciated 
by the straight-line method over a period of five years, starting from the year in which depreciation is completed. The effect of this change 
on the period profit/loss is insignificant.

Finance leases and lease assets where there is no transfer of ownership are depreciated by straight-line method. The leasing period is 
the useful life and the residual value is zero.

(8) Impairment of Fixed Assets
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have adopted “Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets.” This accounting standard 
requires managements to consider each period whether there is any indication that assets (asset groups) may be impaired. The Company 
and its domestic subsidiaries divide asset groups into the categories of finance, rental and idle assets based on independent cash flow units 
according to the types of business segment. Some of the subsidiaries define the smallest asset group based on the districts according to 
the management accounting. If there is such indication, the related assets (asset groups) must be tested for impairment, which is first 
 measured by reference to undiscounted cash flows. If impairment exists, the entity must measure impairment by comparing the assets’ 
 carrying value to the  recoverable value.

(9) Foreign Currency Translation
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have adopted the Financial Accounting Standard on “Accounting for Foreign Currency 
Transactions” issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council of Japan.

Following the standard, receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the relevant 
exchange rates prevailing at the respective balance sheet dates.

The resulting transaction gains or losses are included in the determination of “Other operating income” for the respective periods.

(10) Leases
Financial leases other than leases where ownership is transferred were previously accounted for using accounting methods for rental trans-
actions. Beginning with the year ended March 31, 2009, “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” (Accounting Standards Board of 
Japan (“ASBJ”) Statement No. 13, June 17, 1993, revised March 30, 2007) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” 
(ASBJ Guidance No. 16, January 18, 1994, revised March 30, 2007) has been applied. Therefore, the applicable lease transactions are treated 
as ordinary buying and selling transactions.

Leases that started prior to April 1, 2008 will continue to be accounted for using accounting methods for ordinary rental transactions. 
This change did not have a significant effect on consolidated operating profit and income before income taxes.

(11) Accrued Severance Indemnities
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have adopted the Financial Accounting Standard on “Accounting for Retirement Benefits” 
issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation Council of Japan. Following the standard, the amount of accrued severance indemnities for 
employees is provided based on the amount of the projected  benefit obligation less the fair value of the pension plan assets. The accrued 
severance  indemnity cost for the fiscal period is charged to income as incurred.

Unrecognized past service cost and net actuarial gain arising in the years are charged to income in the year in which they arise. In some 
subsidiaries, it is charged to income in the following year.

The directors and corporate auditors of the Company and certain subsidiaries are covered by a retirement benefit plan under which 
the retiring directors or corporate auditors are entitled to receive lump-sum retirement benefits. The amount of such benefits is determined 
based on these companies’ pertinent rules. The accrued severance indemnities for directors and corporate auditors in the accompanying con-
solidated  balance sheets represent the estimated amount to be paid if all directors and corporate auditors retired at the balance sheet dates.

The Company resolved the abolishment of retirement benefits for officers at the board meeting on May 11, 2009. In addition, at the 
board meeting on June 23, 2009, it was approved and determined that the retirement benefits for the officers, in accordance with their 
terms of office, shall be paid when they lose their status or on the date of election of the board of directors or auditors.
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(12) Accruals for Debt Guarantees
The Company and some subsidiaries have a financial guarantee agreements with certain banks, including the business alliance with 
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation. Under these agreements, the Company provides guarantees to the banks on the bank loans provid-
ed bank customers. The guarantees are principally made to enhance the credit of these customers. The Company and certain subsidiaries 
have received guarantee fees from these banks. For each guarantee provided, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee if 
the customer defaults on a payment. Accompanying this agreement, the Company and subsidiaries recognize accruals for debt guarantees 
to cover possible future losses on these guarantee balances at the balance sheet date.

(13) Allowance for Losses on Interest Repayments
On March 15, 2006, the Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants announced guidelines on auditing consumer finance companies 
(Research Center Deliberation Report No. 24) that take into account the Supreme Court ruling concerning the application of repayment 
rules stipulated under the Money Lending Business Control and Regulation Law. Based on the increased materiality of interest repayment, 
starting with the year ended March 31, 2006, the Company set up an allowance for losses on interest repayments as a current liability.

Provision for the allowance is rationally estimated and booked based on the number of repayment claims by debtors for interest paid 
in excess of the ceiling under the Interest Rate Restriction Law of Japan for which out of court settlement have not already been reached 
and the historical amount of repayment while also taking into consideration the recent repayment conditions.

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company and certain domestic subsidiaries changed the basis for calculating the 
allowance for losses on interest repayments to conform with the “Application of Auditing for Provision of Allowance for Losses for 
Reclaimed Refund of Interest in the Accounting of Consumer Finance Companies” of Industry Audit Practice Committee Report No. 37 
(October 13, 2006) by the Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

In the amount of repayments recorded in allowance for losses on interest repayment, ¥130,452 million ($1,387,046 thousand) is includ-
ed in provision for credit loss as of March 31, 2010, which is the part of estimated repayment appropriate to consumer loans receivable. 

(14) Allowance for Point Services
To provide for liabilities related to bonus points issued to cardholders (in accordance with the bonus points system for promoting the use 
of cards) by one consolidated subsidiary, the Company provides an allowance equivalent to the estimated cost of redemption of bonus 
points  during the first half under review.

(15) Allowance for Business Restructuring Expenses
To provide for losses resulting from the reorganization of the branch network in accordance with the scrap-and-build programs of the 
Company and certain subsidiaries, the Company provides an allowance equivalent to estimated losses as of the end of the first half 
under review.

(16) Stock Issue Expenses
Stock issue expenses are charged to income as incurred.

(17) Bond Issue Expenses
Bond issue expenses are charged to income as incurred.

(18) Net Income and Dividends per Share
Basic net income per share is based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period.

Diluted net income per share is based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding after consideration 
of the dilutive effect of stock option plans during each year.

Cash dividends per share represent interim dividends paid and annual dividends declared as applicable to the respective years.

(19) Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments, generally with an original maturity date of three months or less, which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash are so near maturity that they present an insignificant risk of change in value due to interest rates.

(20) Derivatives
Following the Financial Accounting Standard on “Accounting for Financial Instruments,” derivative financial instruments are recognized 
in the financial statements and measured at fair value, effective April 1, 2000. Gains and losses on designated hedged instruments are 
deferred on the balance sheet to the period when gains and losses on the positions hedged have been recognized to match gains and 
losses on the hedging instruments. Certain derivative instruments  satisfying the condition prescribed under the standard are not evaluated 
at fair value.

(21) Accounting Standard for Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company has applied “Accounting Standards for Statement of Changes in Net Assets” 
(ASBJ Statement No. 6) and “Implementation Guidance for Accounting Standards for Changes in Net Assets” (ASBJ Guidance No. 9), both 
issued on December 27, 2005. 
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Following this standard, the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity, which was prepared voluntarily, was taken over by the 
consoli dated statement of changes in net assets. 

(22) Reclassifications
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(23) Business Combination
In October 2003, the Business Accounting Deliberation Council of Japan issued a Statement of Opinion, “Accounting for Business 
Combination,” and on December 27, 2005, the ASBJ issued “Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Statement No. 7) and 
“Guidance for Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10). These new accounting 
pronouncements were effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2006.

The accounting standard for business combinations allows companies to apply the pooling-of-interests method of accounting only 
when  certain specific criteria are met such that the business combination is essentially regarded as a uniting-of-interests.

For business combinations that do not meet the uniting-of-interests criteria, the business combination is considered to be an acquisition 
and the purchase method of accounting is required. This standard also prescribes the accounting for combinations of entities under 
common control and for joint ventures.

3. THE AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES 

(1) United States Dollar Amounts
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in Japanese yen. The U.S. dollar amounts included in the accompanying con-
solidated financial statements and notes thereto represent the arithmetical results of translating yen into dollars at the rate of ¥94.05 to 
U.S.$1, being the approximate exchange rate at March 31, 2010. The inclusion of such dollar amounts is solely for convenience and is not 
intended to imply that yen amounts have been or could be readily converted, realized or settled in dollars at the rate of ¥94.05 to U.S.$1 
or at any other rate.

(2) Rounded Off Amounts
The amounts of financial statements including non-consolidated financial statements and notes are prepared by rounded off to million of 
Japanese yen and thousand of United States dollars.

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included ¥10,994 million ($116,892 thousand) and ¥20,495 million of short-term commercial notes, as of March 
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

The Companies received securities and commercial paper as collateral for short-term commercial notes. Market values of collateral as of 
March 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Securities ¥11,011 ¥14,484 $117,071
Commercial paper — 5,996 —

¥11,011 ¥20,480 $117,071
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5. CONSUMER LOANS RECEIVABLE

(1)  Unsecured loans to individual customers, which were included in “Consumer loans receivable,” were ¥1,287,444 million ($13,688,930 
thousand) and ¥1,526,188 million as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

(2) Bad debts to be disclosed in accordance with the enactment of the Nonbank Bond Issuing Law were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Credits of bankrupt borrowers ¥ 2,041 ¥ 3,235 $ 21,697
Delinquent loans 11,900 13,129 126,527
Delinquent loans three months or more past the due date 21,048 27,117 223,792
Restructured loans* 85,040 100,588 904,203

¥120,028 ¥144,069 $1,276,218 

*  30 days or less past due restructured loans were ¥77,507 million ($824,099 thousand) and ¥91,430 million as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.

  Credits of bankrupt borrowers are loans under declaration of bankruptcy, reconstruction and similar proceedings and whose accruing 
interest is not recorded as income because the principal or interest on such loans is unlikely to be recovered in view of the considerable 
 period of postponement of the principal or interest, or other circumstances.

  Delinquent loans are credits whose accruing interest is not recorded as income for the same reason as the above and do not include 
 credits of bankrupt borrowers and the loans to which postponement of interest payment was made with the object of reconstructing 
and supporting the borrowers.

  Delinquent loans three months or more past the due date are loans which are delinquent for three months or more from the due 
date of interest or principal under the terms of the related loan agreements and do not include credits of bankrupt borrowers and 
delinquent loans, as described above.

  Restructured loans are loans to which a certain concession favorable to borrowers, such as postponement of interest payment and 
other methods, was made with the object of encouraging repayment and do not include credits of bankrupt borrowers, delinquent loans 
and  delinquent loans three months or more past the due date, as described above.

(3) A revolving credit facility agreement is a contract whereby the Companies are obligated to loan repeatedly up to a  predetermined 
amount to a customer on request, if the customer has met the terms and conditions of the contract.

  The total balance of revolving credit facilities unused, including credit facilities of customers without any loan balance, except for 
those making no payment or receipt for two years or more, was ¥1,524,806 million ($16,212,717 thousand) and ¥1,728,076 million as 
of March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The balance of revolving credit facilities unused and secured was ¥42 million ($449 thousand) 
and ¥1,336 million as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Since revolving credit facilities expire without making a loan, the total 
balance of unused credit facilities must not impact on future cash flows of the Companies.

  Revolving credit facilities contain provisions that allow the Companies to refuse to loan to the customers or reduce the contract 
amount of the credit facilities if credit exposures or other conditions change. After contracted, the Companies periodically monitor 
customers’ creditworthiness and, if necessary, take measures to manage credit exposures, such as revising the terms of the contract.

6. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Transactions affecting the “Allowance for credit losses” account for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Balance at beginning of the year ¥ 295,958 ¥ 343,959  $ 3,146,814
Adjustments for newly consolidated subsidiaries and foreign currency
 translation and other 164 — 1,747
Adjustment for exclusions of consolidated subsidiaries and foreign currency 
 translation and other (913) (13,925) (9,708)
Credit losses written-off against the allowance (177,583) (204,680)  (1,888,178)
Provision for uncollectible loans 128,345 170,602 1,364,650
Balance at end of the year* ¥ 245,971 ¥ 295,958 $ 2,615,326

*  As described in Note 2 (13), ¥130,452 million ($1,387,046 thousand) and ¥168,510 million of expected losses on interest repayments applicable to the principal of consumer 
loans  outstanding was included as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, respecitvely.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(1) Information on Financial Instruments
1. Policy on financial instruments
The Company is engaged in the financial service business. In order to operate business, the Company minimizes the risk of financing and 
raises the long-term financing mainly through bank borrowings, issuance of bonds, commercial paper, and liquidation of credit as the basic 
strategy. The Company uses derivative transactions to avoid interest rate fluctuation risks and not for speculative purposes.

2. Financial products and their risks
The main financial assets of the Companies consist of consumer loans receivable and installment accounts receivable from credit sales. 
These assets are exposed to the credit risk of customer default.

Investment in securities are held for business cooperation purposes and exposed to market risk.
Long-term debt is exposed to liquidation risk from the economic trend. Some of the debt contains financial covenants.
The Companies make use of interest rate swap transactions to hedge its exposure to interest rate fluctuations against a part of the 

borrowings and bonds.

(Credit Risk Management)
In accordance with internal regulations, for credit inquiries concerning each loan, the management of credit information, credit rating 
system, self-assessment system, measures against possible bad debt, and a regular monitoring system of credit portfolios have been 
established and are in operation.

The Companies follow internal regulations and laws to manage credit risk. Internal regulations maintain the following:
• Customer financial information review
• Establishment of credit limit
• Credit information management
• Measure of possible bad debt
• Monitoring system of credit control

(Market Risk Management)
The Companies use interest swap and currency swap to hedge market risk.

Derivative transactions are operated according to internal regulations and reported to the managements periodically.
The Companies manage the investment in securities with its financial information.

(Liquidity Risk Management)
The Companies prepare the cash schedule monthly and manage liquidity risk.

3. Supplemental explanations of matters relating to the fair value of financial instruments and others
The fair values of financial instruments include the values based on market prices and those deemed as market prices obtained by a rea-
sonable estimate when the financial instruments do not have market prices. Since certain assumptions are adopted for calculating such 
values, they may differ when different assumptions are adopted.

(2) Matters Relating to the Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Others
The following are the consolidated balance sheet amounts, fair values, and differences between them as of March 31, 2010. Unlisted stocks 
and others, the fair values of which are extremely difficult to determine, have been excluded.

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars
Consolidated 
balance sheet 

amount Fair value Difference

Consolidated 
balance sheet 

amount Fair value Difference

Cash and cash equivalents ¥147,074 ¥147,074 ¥         — $1,563,790 $1,563,790 $           —
Investments in securities 9,191 9,191 — 97,721 97,721 —
Assets 156,265 156,265 — 1,661,511 1,661,511 —
Short-term borrowings 152,203 152,203 — 1,618,320 1,618,320 —
Current portion of long-term debt 311,009 311,009 — 3,306,844 3,306,844 —
Long-term debt 448,798 411,779 (37,018) 4,771,908 4,378,304 (393,604)
Liabilities 912,010 874,991 (37,018) 9,697,072 9,303,468 (393,604)
Derivative transactions ¥          — ¥          — ¥         — $             — $             — $           —

1. Calculation method for the fair value of financial instruments.
 Assets
 (1)  Cash and cash equivalents

Since the fair values of these items approximate book values, we deem the book values to be fair values.
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 (2)  Investments in securities
The fair values are based on market price.

 Liabilities
 (1)  Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt

Since the fair values of these items approximate book values, we deem the book values to be fair values.
 (2)  Long-term debt

 Long-term debt consists of borrowings and bonds. The fair values of borrowings are calculated by discounting the total amount of the principal and 
interest at the weighted average rates considered applicable to similar borrowings and bonds are based on the market price.

2. Financial instruments whose fair values are deemed too difficult to determine.
Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Consolidated balance sheet amount Consolidated balance sheet amount

(1) Consumer loans receivable: Principle *1 ¥1,297,985 $13,801,011 

(2) Installment accounts receivable *2 78,844 838,316

(3) Non-listed securities *3,4 13,981 148,651

(4) Investments in association *5 41 433

(5) Preferred equity securities *3 1,000 10,633

Total ¥1,391,850 $14,799,044 

*1,2  The fair value of consumer loans receivable and installment accounts receivable cannot be measured because of the application effect of the Money 
Lending Business Law.

*3 As non-listed securities and preferred equity securities do not have market prices, their fair values are deemed extremely difficult to determine.
*4 The Companies recognized an impairment loss of ¥371 million on non-listed securities.
*5 Investments in association are composed of properties whose fair values are deemed extremely difficult to determine.

3. Scheduled redemption amount of financial assets and securities with maturities.
Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Up to 
one year

More than
one year 
and up to 
five years

More than
five years
and up to
10 years

More than
10 years

Up to 
one year

More than
one year 
and up to 
five years

More than
five years
and up to
10 years

More than
10 years

Cash and cash equivalents ¥147,074 ¥— ¥ — ¥      — $1,563,790 $— $   — $        —

Investments with maturity:

 Government bonds — — 22 — — — 234 —

 Others — — — 1,000 — — — 10,633

Total ¥147,074 ¥— ¥22 ¥1,000 $1,563,790 $— $234 $10,633

4.  Scheduled repayment of loans payable and bonds payable after the accounting period.
 

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Up to 
one year

More than
one year 
and up to 
two years

 More than
two years 
and up to 

three years

More than 
three years 
and up to 
four years

More than
four years 
and up to 
five years

Up to 
one year

More than
one year 
and up to 
two years

 More than
two years 
and up to 

three years

More than 
three years 
and up to 
four years

More than
four years 
and up to 
five years

Short-term borrowings ¥152,203 ¥          — ¥          — ¥        — ¥        — $1,618,320 $             — $             — $          — $          —

Bonds 74,100 50,000 90,456 55,000 10,000 787,879 531,632 961,788 584,795 106,326

Long-term borrowings 236,909 106,330 59,893 26,209 8,910 2,518,965 1,130,566 636,827 278,666 94,737

Total ¥463,212 ¥156,330 ¥150,350 ¥81,209 ¥18,910 $4,925,164 $1,662,198 $1,598,615 $863,461 $201,063
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8. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

Investments in securities held by the Companies as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Investments in securities:
 Equity securities ¥11,192 ¥8,258 $119,005 
 Other 1,064 1,093 11,307

¥12,256      ¥9,351     $130,312 

Book value and acquisition cost information on marketable “Other securities” as of March 31, 2010 is summarized as follows:
Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Acquisition
cost

Book value
per

balance sheet Difference
Acquisition

cost

Book value
per

balance sheet Difference

Securities whose book values on the accompanying 
  consolidated balance sheet exceed their acquisition costs:
 Equity securities ¥6,034 ¥8,078 ¥2,044 $64,158 $85,891 $21,733 
 Other 22 23 1 233 241 8 

6,056 8,101 2,045 64,391 86,132 21,741 
Securities whose book values on the accompanying
  consolidated balance sheet do not exceed their acquisition costs:
 Equity securities 1,396 1,090 (306) 14,839 11,589 (3,250)
 1,396 1,090 (306) 14,839 11,589 (3,250)

¥7,452 ¥9,191 ¥1,739 $79,230 $97,721 $18,491 

“Other securities” sold during the year ended March 31, 2010 were as follows:
Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Proceeds
from sales

Gain
on sales

Loss
on sales

Proceeds
from sales

Gain
on sales

Loss
on sales

¥85 ¥41 ¥3 $905 $433 $34 

Book values of “Other securities” which were not marketable as of March 31, 2010 are summarized as follows:
Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Investments in securities:
 Equity securities ¥2,024 $21,525 
 Other 1,041 11,066
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Book value and acquisition cost information on marketable “Other securities” as of March 31, 2009 is summarized as follows:
Millions of Yen

Acquisition
cost

Book value
per

balance sheet Difference

Securities whose book values on the accompanying 
  consolidated balance sheet exceed their acquisition costs:
 Equity securities ¥ 291 ¥ 393 ¥ 102
 Other 22 22 0 

313 415 102 
Securities whose book values on the accompanying
  consolidated balance sheet do not exceed their acquisition costs:
 Equity securities 7,172 5,731 (1,440)
 Other — — —
 7,172 5,731 (1,440)

¥7,485 ¥6,147 ¥(1,338)

“Other securities” sold during the year ended March 31, 2009 were as follows:
Millions of Yen

Proceeds
from sales

Gain
on sales

Loss
on sales

¥889 ¥652 ¥2 

Book values of “Other securities” which were not marketable as of March 31, 2009 are summarized as follows:
Millions of Yen

Investments in securities:
 Equity securities ¥ 2,133
 Certificate of deposit 11,900
 Other 1,070

As for “Other securities,” if their fair market value has declined more than 50% of their book value, such securities are measured at their 
fair market value, and any decreases in the carrying amounts are charged to income as the loss on valuation of investments in securities. 
In case their fair market value has declined more than 30% but less than 50% of their book value, such securities are measured at their fair 
market value, and any decreases in the carrying amount are charged to income as the loss on valuation of investments in securities unless 
the fair market value is expected to be recoverable.

As for “Other securities” which are not marketable, if the real price of the securities declined remarkably due to aggravation of the finan-
cial condition of issuing companies, such securities are impaired accordingly. 

The Companies recognized ¥6 million ($67 thousand) and ¥3,278 million in loss on valuation of investments in securities for the years 
ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

9. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company and certain subsidiaries enter into interest rate swap agreements to convert variable interest rates on the principal amount 
of  certain debts to fixed interest rates. In addition, the Company enters into interest rate cap agreements. These agreements are used to 
reduce the exposure to market risk from fluctuation in interest rates. The Companies do not hold or issue any financial instruments for 
trading purposes. The hedging instruments are measured for effectiveness by  correlation with respect to the difference between interest 
rate indicators upon the instruments and positions hedged. The market risk associated with these instruments is managed under the 
Company’s internal manual approved by the Board of Directors. The derivatives and hedging activities of the subsidiaries are subject to 
the Company’s approval.

The fair values of off-balance-sheet financial instruments were not disclosed since all outstanding derivative instruments were 
designated as hedged as of March 31, 2010 and 2009.
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10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Buildings ¥ 24,338 ¥ 25,565 $ 258,780 
Structures 3,964 4,354 42,147 
Fixtures and equipment 23,675 25,633 251,730 
Lease assets 603 310 6,409 
Other 157 77 1,670 

52,737 55,939 560,736 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (38,212) (38,652) (406,297)

14,525 17,287 154,439 
Land 49,663 49,960 528,052 
Construction in progress — 24 —

¥ 64,188 ¥ 67,271 $ 682,491 

11. FIXED LEASEHOLD DEPOSITS

Fixed leasehold deposits as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 were mainly those paid to the lessors in connection with the leases of facilities 
for office space. Lessors in Japan require large amounts of leasehold deposits equivalent to several months’ lease rental payments. Such 
 leasehold deposits do not bear interest and are generally returnable only when the lease is terminated.

12. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM DEBT

(1) Information on the amount of short-term borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Short-term bank loans*:
 Unsecured ¥152,203   ¥148,403 $1,618,320 
Commercial paper and other:
 Unsecured 11,700 20,500 124,402

¥163,903    ¥168,903 $1,742,722 
* Maximum month-end balance outstanding during the period ¥152,203      ¥221,078 $1,618,320 

Average month-end balance outstanding during the period 140,582 173,190 1,494,763
Weighted average interest rate for the period 1.627% 1.375%

Short-term bank loans were represented mainly by overdrafts with banks bearing interest at annual rates ranging from 0.670% to 
3.590% and from 0.910% to 5.700% for each of the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

The principal ranges of annual interest rates applicable to commercial paper and other were from 1.000% to1.500% and from 1.800% to 
2.810% as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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(2) Long-term debt outstanding as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following: 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Loans, principally from banks and other financial institutions with 
 interest rates indicated below*:
 Secured ¥ 49,316 ¥ 56,494 $ 524,359
 Entered into the forward contract of assigning consumer loans receivable 194,965 231,631 2,072,988
 Unsecured 193,970 276,074 2,062,414

438,251 564,199 4,659,761
Bonds issued by Promise Co., Ltd.:
 2.950% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2009 — 10,000 —
 2.560% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 — 15,000 —
 2.900% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2012 10,000 10,000 106,326
 2.050% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2009 — 10,000 —
 2.290% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 10,000 10,000 106,326
 1.370% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2013 15,000 15,000 159,490
 2.100% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2014 10,000 10,000 106,326
 0.790% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 10,000 10,000 106,326
 1.380% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2011 10,000 10,000 106,326
 1.700% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 10,000 10,000 106,326
 1.930% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2011 10,000 10,000 106,326
 2.050% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2013 20,000 20,000 212,653
 2.060% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2014 20,000 20,000 212,653
 1.630% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2011 20,000 20,000 212,653
 2.740% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2013 20,000 20,000 212,653
 5.950% per annum uncollateralized U.S. dollar bonds, due 2012 60,456 60,438 642,809
 Euro-yen convertible bonds with warrants and acquisition clauses due 2015 42,000 42,000 446,571
Bonds issued by SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD.:
 1.920% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2011 10,000 10,000 106,326
 2.080% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2009 — 10,000 —
 2.050% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 25,000 25,000 265,816
Bonds issued by POCKET CARD CO., LTD.:
 1.410% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2009 — 5,000 —
 0.810% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 100 300 1,063 
 1.350% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 5,000 5,000 53,163      
 2.410% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2009 — 7,000 —
 2.420% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 9,000 9,000 95,694      
 3.120% per annum uncollateralized yen bonds, due 2010 5,000 5,000 53,163      
Less: Portion due within one year (311,009) (268,738) (3,306,884)  

¥ 448,798 ¥ 674,198 $ 4,771,908
Weighted average interest rate for the period 1.988% 1.946%
*  Annual interest rates on loans from banks and other financial institutions outstanding as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 ranged from 0.593% to 3.950% and from 0.951% to 

3.950%, respectively.
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(3)  The Companies’ assets pledged as collateral for short-term bank loans, commercial paper and other and long-term loans with banks and 
other financial institutions as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Consumer loans receivable* ¥51,368 ¥58,569 $546,181
Other 2 2 18

¥51,370 ¥58,571 $546,199

*  In addition to the above assets pledged, the Companies entered into the forward contract of assigning consumer loans receivable. The contract amounts 
were ¥197,910 million ($2,104,302 thousand) and ¥235,908 million as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt outstanding, excluding the preceding bonds, as of March 31, 2010 were as follows:
Years ending March 31, Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2011 ¥236,909 $2,518,965
2012 106,330 1,130,566
2013 59,894 636,827
2014 26,209 278,666
2015 8,910 94,737

¥438,251 $4,659,761

(4)  The outstanding bank overdraft and loan commitments contracted but not provided for and similar agreements as of March 31, 2010 
and 2009 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Bank overdraft commitments:
 Credit facilities ¥116,045 ¥ 119,318 $ 1,233,863 
 Used (98,203) (109,130) (1,044,157)
 Unused ¥ 17,842 ¥ 10,188 $ 189,705 
Bank loan commitments:
 Credit facilities ¥          — ¥ 15,500 $             — 
 Used — (15,500) —
 Unused ¥          — ¥           — $             — 

13. SEVERANCE AND PENSION PLANS

Under the terms of the severance plans of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, employees of the Companies with more than two 
years of service are generally entitled to lump-sum payments at the time of retirement.

The amount of the retirement benefit is, in general, based on the length of service, the accumulated points of individual performance 
 evaluation and the cause of retirement.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have non-contributory pension plans, defined benefit pension plans and lump-sum payment 
plans. Additionally, certain consolidated subsidiaries have defined contribution pension plans.

The Company adopted defined benefit pension plans (cash balance plans).
Certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries adopted tax-qualified pension plans, covering the full portion of their defined contribution 

pension plans and severance plans.
The Company’s overseas consolidated subsidiaries adopted defined contribution plans, with company obligations contributing to retire-

ment funds.
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A reconciliation of benefit obligation to net liability recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2010 
and 2009 was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Benefit obligation ¥(20,050) ¥(22,648) $(213,185) 
Fair value of plan assets 14,363 15,179 152,713 
Funded status (5,687) (7,468) (60,473) 
Unrecognized net actuarial gain 128 206 1,358 
Net liability recognized in balance sheet (5,560) (7,263) (59,115) 
Prepaid pension expenses (22) (64) (236) 
Accrued severance indemnities for employees ¥ (5,582) ¥ (7,326) $ (59,350) 

Components of net periodic benefit cost for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Service cost ¥ 1,262 ¥2,040 $ 13,421
Interest cost 454 442 4,826
Expected return on plan assets (211) (284) (2,247)
Installment-type defined contribution pension plan 144 — 1,535
Extraordinary increased retirement payments 3,322 — 35,325
Net actuarial gain (1,640) 3,596 (17,434)
Other costs 110 — 1,173
Net periodic benefit cost ¥ 3,442 ¥5,795 $ 36,559

Assumptions in calculating retirement benefit obligations:
2010 2009

Discount rate of benefit obligation 1.5% to 2.1% 1.5% to 2.1%
Expected rate of return on investments:
 Defined benefit corporate pension plan 1.4% 1.5%
 Tax qualified pension plan 1.0% 1.0%

Net periodic service cost is attributed based on years of service. 
Certain subsidiaries’ benefit obligations were calculated using the simplified method, which is allowed to be applied by small enterprises, 

in conformity with the Financial Accounting Standard on “Accounting for Retirement Benefits.”
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14. LEASE COMMITMENTS

(1)  Rental expense, reversal of allowance for impairment losses leased assets, depreciation expense, interest expense and impairment losses 
relating to financing leases which do not transfer ownership of the leased properties to the lessee during the terms of the leases as of 
March 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Rental expense ¥119 ¥356 $1,264
Reversal of allowance for impairment losses leased assets 29 21 312
Estimated depreciation expense 110 337 1,166
Estimated interest expense 10 14 102
Impairment losses 11 69 112

Depreciation expense is computed by the straight-line method over the terms of the related leases. Interest expense is computed by the 
interest method. These estimated amounts are not reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss).

The aggregate future lease payments as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Due within one year ¥ 86 ¥150 $ 913
Due after one year 157 224 1,667

¥243 ¥374 $2,580

A summary of the leased properties under the above leases as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Instruments fixtures and equipment ¥ 464 ¥ 859 $ 4,935 
Other 4 9 46 

468 868 4,981 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (232) (455) (2,477)
Less: Accumulated impairment loss (50) (120) (537)

¥ 185 ¥ 293 $ 1,967 

(2) Aggregate future lease payments under ordinary operating leases do not exist as of March 31, 2010 and 2009.

15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(1) Guarantee obligations include loans for some borrowers
  As described in Note 2 (12), the Company and certain subsidiaries have agreements with financial institutions on debt guarantees. 
The contracted amounts were ¥545,545 million ($5,800,582 thousand) and ¥496,125 million as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.

(2)  Early redemption liability of convertible bonds ¥2,100 million ($22,329 thousand)
  In July 2008, the Company sold ¥42,000 million ($446,571 thousand) of Euro-yen convertible bonds that mature in 2015. The bonds 

include an early redemption clause that gives holders of these bonds the option to demand redemption on July 24, 2013 at 105% of face 
value, which would result in a payment of ¥44,100 million ($468,900 thousand) for all bonds. An amount equivalent to 5% of this early 
redemption (¥2,100 million) has been recognized as an early redemption  liability.
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16. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Corporation Law provides that the Company can pay dividends at any time by the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting or by the 
Board of Directors, if certain conditions are met. The Corporation Law provides that an amount equal to 10% of cash dividends is required 
to be set aside until the total amount of additional paid-in capital (part of “Capital surplus”) and legal reserve (part of “Retained earnings”) 
equals 25% of the common stock account. The Corporation Law also provides that by the resolution of the shareholders' meeting, addi-
tional paid-in capital or legal reserve can be transferred to retained earnings without limitation, whereas under the Commercial Code, 
the transfer amount was limited to so as not to be below 25% of the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal reserve.

17. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

As described in Note 2 (5), the collected amounts are included in “Other operating income” in the accompanying consolidated statements 
of income (loss) in the year of recovery when the previously written-off balances of consumer loans and the related interest are subse-
quently  recovered and collected.

Collected amounts for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Collected amount ¥7,823 ¥7,614 $83,181

18. FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest expense included in “Financial expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss) for the years ended March 
31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Interest expense ¥18,740 ¥20,334 $199,255

19. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss) for the years ended March 31, 2010 
and 2009 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Advertising expenses ¥ 9,636 ¥ 13,362 $ 102,459 
Employees’ salaries and bonuses 26,951 30,270 286,556
Rent expenses 8,528 10,073 90,677
Provision for losses on interest repayments 24,612 103,023 261,688
Losses on sales of credit 6,735 1,380 71,613
Other 95,116 106,075 1,011,333

¥171,578 ¥264,183 $1,824,326 
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20. IMPAIRMENT LOSS

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recognized impairment loss of fixed assets of ¥578 million ($6,150 thousand) and ¥453 mil-
lion for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

For the year ended March 31, 2010, book value has been reduced to the amounts that can be recovered for idle assets where market 
prices have fallen significantly below book values and for assets used for business operations where there are consistent losses from 
operating activities using that group of assets. The resulting impairment loss of ¥578 million ($6,150 thousand) was recorded as an 
extraordinary loss.

Of that amount, ¥57 million ($605 thousand) was for telephone rights, ¥184 million ($1,960 thousand) was for fixtures and equipment, 
¥11 million ($112 thousand) was for lease assets, ¥93 million ($986 thousand) was for land, ¥218 million ($2,316 thousand) was for 
buildings, ¥1 million ($11 thousand) was for structures and ¥15 million ($159 thousand) was for other assets.

For the year ended March 31, 2009, book value has been reduced to the amounts that can be recovered for idle assets where market 
prices have fallen significantly below book values and for assets used for business operations where there are consistent losses from 
operating activities using that group of assets. The resulting impairment loss of ¥453 million was recorded as an extraordinary loss.

Of that amount, ¥167 million was for telephone rights, ¥84 million was for fixtures and equipment, ¥69 million was for lease assets, 
¥56 million was for land, ¥41 million was for software, ¥32 million was for buildings and ¥3 million was for structures.

The recoverable amount is measured by net selling price, which has been determined from the evaluation of real estate appraisers or 
the market value of telephone rights. 

21. INCOME TAXES

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries are subject to a number of different taxes based on income, which in the aggre-
gate indicate a normal effective statutory tax rate of approximately 40.7% for each of the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009. 

The Company’s overseas consolidated subsidiaries are subject to income taxes of the countries in which they operate.
The major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Deferred tax assets due to:
 Credit losses for receivables and consumer loans ¥ 41,442 ¥ 24,584 $ 440,640
 Allowance for credit losses 32,684 70,661 347,518
 Accrued severance indemnities for employees 2,245 2,919 23,872
 Accrued income 2,952 3,066 31,392
 Reserve for bonus payment 1,204 1,457 12,803
 Accruals for debt guarantees 9,759 9,560 103,762
 Allowance for losses on interest repayments 73,405 110,097 780,489
 Net operating loss carry forwards 142,449 84,252 1,514,605
 Credit losses for claim for indemnities 5,281 4,422 56,151
 Loss from evaluation of securities 409 301 4,344
 Allowance for losses from reorganizing operations 1,273 159 13,540
 Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries 1,819 2,830 19,336
 Allowance for losses on sales of receivables — 450 —
 Allowance for business restructuring expenses — 4,141 —
 Valuation of assets based on unqualified exchange of stock 537 586 5,714
 Other 2,894 3,313 30,771
 Subtotal 318,353 322,798 3,384,937
 Less: Valuation allowance (305,852) (314,635) (3,252,017)
 Total deferred tax assets  ¥ 12,501 ¥ 8,163 $ 132,920
Deferred tax liabilities due to:
 Net unrealized gain on securities ¥ (789) ¥           — $ (8,389)
 Total deferred tax liabilities ¥ (789) ¥           — $ (8,389)
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A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate for the year ended March 31, 2010 was as follows:
Statutory tax rate 40.7%
Effect of permanently non-deductible accounts as social expense 1.6
Effect of permanently non-taxable accounts as dividend income (3.2)
Adjustments according to resident tax 0.5
Adjustments according to allowance (59.7)
Effect of subsidiaries which do not adopt tax effect accounting (10.3)
Other 0.4
Amortization of goodwill 20.1
Effective tax rate (9.9)%

Net deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 were included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Current assets:
 Deferred tax assets ¥ 8,464 ¥5,815 $ 89,998
Investments and advances:

 Deferred tax assets 4,037 2,348 42,944
¥12,501 ¥8,163 $132,942

Long-term liabilities: 
 Deferred tax liabilities ¥   (789) ¥      — $ (8,389)

22. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Companies’ operations by business segment for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 are not disclosed since the Companies’ 
 business other than consumer finance business is immaterial.

The Companies’ operations by geographic segment for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 are not disclosed since the Companies’ 
business other than in Japan is immaterial.

Information about foreign operating income for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 is not disclosed since the Companies’ foreign 
 operating income is immaterial.
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23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) Parent Company and Major Corporate Shareholders
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (“SMBC”) had become a related party of the Company due to acquisition of 16.05% of voting rights 
of the Company on July 14, 2004 and induction of an executive officer of SMBC into the Company on September 30, 2004. SMBC held 
22.02% of the voting rights as of March 31, 2010. Transactions with SMBC were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Loan-related transactions:
 Long-term debt ¥ 92,400 ¥ 85,000 $ 982,456
 Current portion of long-term debt 30,600 38,000 325,359
 Interest expense 2,213 2,093 23,529
Business alliance:

 Debt guarantees ¥315,518 ¥276,884 $3,354,792
 Loan guarantee fees 10,931 7,552 116,220
 Subrogation 12,762 9,103 135,689

*1. Business conditions and policy on deciding business conditions
  Borrowings are determined by the Board of Directors and in-house rules in the same way as for borrowings from other banks, the interest rates are 

market  interest rates. Loan guarantees are provided for unsecured loans and the guarantee fees and indemnification standards are based on terms of 
the business alliance contract.

*2.  Only important transactions were disclosed.
*3. The above transaction amounts did not include consumption tax.

(2) Transactions Between Subsidiaries of the Company and the Related Party
At-Loan Co., Ltd., a 49.99% directly and 11.02% indirectly owned company of the related party

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Short-term borrowings ¥84,500 ¥103,600 $898,458
Interest expense 651 1,153 6,921

SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD., a 22.02% indirectly owned company of the related party

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Long-term debt ¥16,019 ¥20,565 $170,324
Current portion of long-term debt 8,446 6,430 89,798
Interest expense 626 508 6,659

POCKET CARD CO., LTD., a 4.99% directly and 9.25% indirectly owned company of the related party

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Long-term debt  ¥ 7,715 ¥ 8,422 $ 82,029
Current portion of long-term debt 5,285 4,578 56,196
Short-term borrowings 23,000 13,000 244,551
Interest expense 688 410 7,312

*1. Business conditions and policy on deciding business conditions
  Borrowings are determined by the Board of Directors and in-house rules in the same way as for borrowings from other banks, the interest rates are 

market  interest rates.
*2.  Only important transactions were disclosed.
*3. The above transaction amounts did not include consumption tax.
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24. AMOUNT PER SHARE

The amounts of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:
Yen U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Net income (loss) per share:
 Basic ¥114.86 ¥(986.64) $1.22
 Diluted 102.78 — 1.09

Although there are common stock equivalents, diluted earnings per share are not shown because there was a net loss for the year ended 
March 31, 2009.

The amounts and numbers used for the basic net income (loss) per share computation were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
Net income (loss) ¥14,567 ¥(125,123) $154,881
Net income (loss) applicable to shareholders of common stock ¥14,567 ¥(125,123) $154,881

Shares

2010 2009

Weighted average number of shares of common stock 126,815,280 126,816,664

As of March 31, 2009, Euro-yen convertible bonds due in 2015 (Total amount issued: ¥42,000 million, $446,571 thousand) were not 
included in the calculation of diluted net income per share since there was no dilutive effect.

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

(1) Merger Agreement with Subsidiaries
The Company; a wholly owned subsidiary Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd., and SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD., a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd., signed the merger agreement following the resolutions passed at the board meeting on May 10, 2010. The merger 
will take effect on October 1, 2010.

1. Main reason for the merger
It was determined that drastic structural reform was necessary for the Promise Group. 

2. Date of the merger
October 1, 2010

3. Legal form of the merger
This merger will be undertaken between the Company (surviving entity) and SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE (absorbed entity) shortly after the 
merger between SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE (surviving entity) and Asahi Enterprise (absorbed entity).

4. Major business activity and scale for absorbed entity
Company name Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd. SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD.
Business activity Investment in SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD. Consumer finance 
Sales or operating profit — ¥ 51,910 million
Net income (loss) ¥ (53) million ¥ 14,304 million
Total assets ¥105,824  million ¥217,646 million
Total liabilities ¥100,137  million ¥159,687 million
Net assets ¥ 5,686  million ¥ 57,959 million
Number of employees — 403
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(2) Offering of the Voluntary Retirement
On May 19, 2010, the board of directors of the Company and its subsidiary SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD. decided to encourage volun-
tary retirement to reform the business structure, for example, facilitate sales transformation and organization restructuring, review group 
businesses strategy, and drastically change cost structure.

1. Guidelines for applicants
Target person Permanent employees of the Company and SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD. 

aged 30 to 58 years as of April 1, 2010, or meet the conditions below.
(Promise)  Permanent position and working as a restricted area worker 

as of March 31, 2010
(SANYO SHINPAN)  Permanent position and working as a restricted area worker 

as of April 1, 2010
Number of employees targeted for voluntary retirement A total of 900 from both companies
Offer period (Promise) From June 7, 2010, to June 23, 2010

(SANYO SHINPAN) From June 14, 2010, to June 30, 2010
Retirement date (Promise) On a stated day between July 2, 2010, and October 31, 2010

(SANYO SHINPAN) On September 30, 2010 
Preferential treatment Issue normal retirement benefits and premium severance pay
Support for re-employment Support applicants for re-employment through an outplacement 

consulting firm

2. Future prospects
The Company anticipates accruing an additional amount for particular retirement, approximately 7.5 billion, if the number of applicants 
constitutes a quorum.

Further, it is expected that employee cost will decrease by around 3.8 billion in fiscal 2011; thereafter, around 7.5 billion.
The Company will merge SANYO SHINPAN CO., LTD. on October 1, 2010, as the date of entry into force.

(3) Significant Change in the Scope of Consolidation
The Company included POCKET CARD CO., LTD. in the scope of consolidation due to substantial control, despite the share of voting rights being 
less than 50%.

However, the election of the board members was approved and determined at the general shareholders’ meeting of POCKET CARD 
CO., LTD. on May 27, 2010. On June 11, 2010, the board of directors of the Company resolved that POCKET CARD CO., LTD. was excluded 
from the scope of consolidation as of April 1, 2010 as the effective control had been ended.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

1. Basic Framework of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Ken Kubo, President of Promise Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is responsible for the design and operation of internal control over financial reporting for 
the Promise Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Promise Group designs and operates its internal control over financial reporting in 
accordance with guidelines set forth in “On the Setting of the Standards and Practice Standards for Management Assessment and Audit concern-
ing Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Council Opinions)” from the Business Accounting Council of the Financial Service Agency of Japan.

Internal control aims at achieving the objectives to a reasonable extent with the organized and integrated function of basic individual compo-
nents of internal control as a whole. Accordingly, internal control may not completely prevent or detect misstatements in financial reporting.

2. Scope of Assessment, Assessment Date and Assessment Procedure
The Promise Group performed an assessment of internal control over financial reporting for its consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 
2010, in accordance with generally accepted assessment standards in Japan for internal control over financial reporting.

In making an assessment, the Company selected internal control incorporated into processes (process-level internal control) based on the results 
of assessment of significant impact on all consolidated financial reporting (entity-level internal control). In order to assess the effectiveness of the 
process-level internal control, the details of the processes subject to assessment were first examined for the purpose of understanding and analy-
sis. Key controls that were considered to have significant impact to the reliability of financial reporting were then identified and the design and 
operation statuses of those key controls were assessed accordingly. 

For the scope of assessment for internal control over accounting and financial reporting, the necessary scope of the assessment was determined 
from the perspective of significant impact on the reliability of financial reporting, including the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and 
equity method affiliates. The Company determined 13 consolidated subsidiaries and an equity method affiliate should be subjected to the assess-
ment of entity-level controls, taking into account of the degree of quantitative and qualitative impact on the consolidated financial statement. 
2 consolidated subsidiaries that were considered quantitatively and qualitatively insignificant were excluded from the scope of assessment.

For the scope of assessment for process-level internal control, 2 of the business locations were identified as significant business locations 
 calculated by aggregating from highly operating income of each business locations of prior fiscal year (after elimination of inter-company transac-
tions) amounted to approximately two-thirds of the consolidated operating income of prior fiscal year. In regard to those “significant business 
locations”, the Company determined that Interest on consumer loans, income from guarantee business, financial expenses and consumer loans 
receivable were the accounts closely associated with the company’s business objectives and, in principle, all business processes relating to those 
accounts should be subject to assessment. Furthermore, considered to have a possibility that material misstatement or high-risk trans actions exist, 
other business process relating to significant accounts involving estimates and management’s judgment were included in the scope of assessment, 
taking into account the impact on financial reporting.    

3. Assessment Result
As a result of performing the above assessment, the Company concluded that the design and operation of internal control over financial reporting 
for the Promise Group were effective as of March 31, 2010.

4. Supplementary Information
Not applicable

5. Other
Not applicable
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Promise Co., Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Promise Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2009 
and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, all 
expressed in Japanese yen. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatements. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Promise Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2009 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their opera-
tions and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in Japan.

As discussed in Note 15 (2), on the basis of the Early Redemption Clause of Convertible Bonds, the Company has recognized an early 
redemption  liability amount of ¥2,100 million ($22,329 thousand), which is 5% of the issue price of convertible bonds. 

As discussed in Note 25 (1), Promise Co., Ltd; a wholly owned subsidiary Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd; and SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD., 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd., signed the merger agreement following the resolutions passed at the board 
meeting on May 10, 2010. The merger will take effect on October 1, 2010.

As discussed in Note 25 (2), on May 19, 2010, the board of directors of the Company and its subsidiary SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD. 
decided to encourage voluntary retirement.

As discussed in Note 25 (3), POCKET CARD CO., LTD. was excluded from the scope of consolidation and became an affiliate accounted for 
under the equity method, as the effective control had been ended.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the year ended March 31, 2010 are 
presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included the translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such 
translation has been made on the basis described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

[Internal control over financial reporting]
We also have audited the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting for the consolidated financial 
 statements of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2010. The Company’s management is responsible for design-
ing and operating internal control over financial reporting and preparing the Management’s Report. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Management’s Report based on our audit. Internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

We conducted our internal control audit in accordance with the standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Management’s Report is free of all material misstatement. 
Our audit of internal control includes examining, on a test basis the overall presentation of the Management’s Report, including disclosures 
on scope,  procedures and conclusions of management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting. We believe that our audit 
provides a  reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Management’s Report referred to above, which represents that internal control over financial reporting of the consoli-
dated financial statements as of March 31, 2010 is effective, presents fairly, in all material respects, management’s assessment on internal 
control over financial reporting for the consolidated financial statements in conformity with standards generally accepted in Japan.

Toyo Horwath
Tokyo, Japan
June 23, 2010
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Consolidated Business Indicators
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Domestic
 Kyushu
 Chugoku, Shikoku
 Kinki
 Chubu
 Kanto
 Tohoku
 Hokkaido

Overseas

(%)

Unsecured Secured

(¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Unsecured loans outstanding 1,577,494 1,488,980 1,741,550 1,526,188 1,287,448
 Domestic 1,555,266 1,462,553 1,713,227 1,504,042 1,263,269
  Hokkaido 64,002 57,169 65,807 58,842 48,772
  Tohoku 136,017 120,658 127,719 113,168 94,640
  Kanto 650,171 641,072 645,618 568,752 480,838
  Chubu 192,107 177,664 180,184 165,814 140,180
  Kinki 251,137 231,517 270,552 253,799 230,947
  Chugoku, Shikoku 120,676 107,784 147,203 124,902 100,913
  Kyushu 141,153 126,685 276,139 218,762 166,976
 Overseas 22,227 26,426 28,322 22,145 24,178
  Hong Kong 22,227 23,082 23,059 18,801 19,788
  Thailand — 3,344 5,262 3,344 4,389
Secured loans outstanding 3,488 2,854 16,129 13,242 10,537
 Hokkaido 96 78 255 222 168
 Tohoku 240 178 584 489 355
 Kanto 621 545 1,545 1,337 1,481
 Chubu 232 189 1,516 1,259 982
 Kinki 1,674 1,384 1,600 1,475 1,143
 Chugoku, Shikoku 409 315 2,968 2,394 1,871
 Kyushu 213 163 7,658 6,062 4,533

Consumer Loans Outstanding, by Area 
(As of March 31, 2010)
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Consumer Loans Outstanding (¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Consumer loans outstanding 1,580,983 1,491,836 1,757,679 1,539,430 1,297,985
  Year-on-year growth (%) –1.2 –5.6 17.8 –12.4 –15.7
 Individual customers 1,580,983 1,491,836 1,757,672 1,539,263 1,297,400
  Unsecured loans 1,577,494 1,488,980 1,741,550 1,526,188 1,287,443
  Secured loans 3,488 2,854 16,122 13,075 9,956
 Corporate customers — — 6 166 584
  Unsecured loans — — — — 4
  Secured loans — — 6 166 580
Note:  Commencing in the first half of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008, the SANYO SHINPAN 

group has been included in consolidation. Consumer loans outstanding include off-balance-
sheet loans that have been securitized and sold. 
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Unstaffed branches
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Number of Unsecured Loan Branches
2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3

Number of unsecured loan branches 1,586 1,578 2,124 1,606 1,538
 Staffed branches 472 471 363 358 169
 Unstaffed branches 1,114 1,107 1,761 1,248 1,369
Number of ATMs and CDs 1,694 1,682 2,364 1,760 1,522
Number of automated contract
  machines 1,529 1,521 2,075 1,582 1,521
Number of loan processing 
 machines 1,013 983 365 206 150
Number of employees 4,985 4,961 5,984 5,292 4,522
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(¥ billion) (%)
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2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Consumer loans outstanding 1,580,983 1,491,836 1,757,679 1,539,430 1,297,985
Loan losses 115,389 134,971 177,076 199,488 170,243
Loan loss ratio (%) 7.30 9.05 10.07 12.96 13.12
Credit losses including provision 
 for uncollectible loans 125,806 244,007 102,458 169,224 127,833
  Provision for uncollectible loans 125,806 234,670 102,458 169,224 127,833
 Credit losses — 9,336 — — —
Collection of written-off loans 5,234 5,340 6,874 7,613 7,823
Note:  Loan losses exclude losses related to adjusted installment payment and claim for indemnities.

Loan Losses
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Credits of bankrupt borrowers
Delinquent loans
Delinquent loans three months or more 
past the due date
Restructured loans
Non-performing loans ratio (%) 
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2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Consumer loans outstanding 1,580,983 1,491,836 1,757,679 1,539,430 1,297,985
Non-performing loans 84,268 97,961 157,817 144,069 120,028
Non-performing loans ratio (%) 5.33 6.57 8.98 9.36 9.25
 Credits of bankrupt borrowers 1,122 709 1,730 3,235 2,040
 Delinquent loans 707 618 14,063 13,129 11,899
   Delinquent loans three 

  months or more past 
the due date 13,048 18,582 31,138 27,117 21,047

 Restructured loans 69,391 78,052 110,885 100,588 85,040
Note:  Effective from the first half ended September 30, 2008, some delinquent loans three months or 

more past the due date have been reclassified as delinquent loans.

Non-Performing Loans
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Secured loans
Unsecured loans

(Thousands)

Number of Accounts (Thousands)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Number of accounts 2,950 2,775 3,343 2,986 2,607
  Year-on-year growth (%) –2.4 –5.9 20.4 –10.7 –12.7
 Individual customers 2,950 2,775 3,343 2,986 2,606
  Unsecured loans 2,948 2,774 3,339 2,983 2,603
  Secured loans 1 1 3 3 2
 Corporate customers — — 0 0 1
  Unsecured loans — — — — 0
  Secured loans — — 0 0 1
Unsecured loans outstanding 
 per account 534 536 521 511 494
Note:  Unsecured loans outstanding per account = unsecured loans outstanding (year-end) � 

number of unsecured loans accounts (year-end)
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Guaranteed Loans Outstanding (¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Guaranteed Loans Outstanding 139,156 173,619 423,230 494,852 544,141
Notes: 1.  In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, Promise’s guaranteed loans outstanding rose 

substantially due to the Company’s new joint consumer finance business with Sumitomo 
Mitsui Banking Corporation.

 2.  In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007, PROMISE (TAIWAN) terminated its loan guarantee 
business.

 3.  Commencing in the first half of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008, the SANYO SHINPAN 
group has been included in consolidation.
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Six-Year Summary (Non-Consolidated Basis)
Promise Co., Ltd.    Years ended March 31

Millions of Yen

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Results of Operations:
Interest on consumer loans ¥ 169,606 ¥ 210,482 ¥ 249,835 ¥ 276,844 ¥ 296,730 ¥ 305,471
Other operating income 43,189 32,577 25,386 23,067 11,230 7,571
Total operating income 212,795 243,059 275,221 299,911 307,960 313,042
Financial expenses 12,749 13,713 15,113 14,095 14,558 17,432
General and administrative expenses 93,999 170,357 134,381 272,559 132,104 101,791
  Credit losses including provision 
 for uncollectible loans 94,309 116,122 81,779 210,766 95,088 77,689
Total operating expenses 201,056 300,192 231,273 497,420 241,750 196,912
Operating profit (loss) 11,739 (57,133) 43,948 (197,509) 66,210 116,130
Income (loss) before income taxes 7,358 (88,981) 29,887 (386,844) 68,889 114,895
Net income (loss) 7,251 (129,969) 6,284 (374,941) 40,994 68,174

Financial Position:
Consumer loans receivable: Principal ¥ 855,423 ¥1,016,636 ¥1,143,770 ¥1,193,876 ¥1,295,316 ¥1,326,794
Allowance for credit losses (current assets) 170,523 206,145 221,306 259,200 101,500 97,400
Total current assets 938,711 1,064,355 1,255,049 1,234,918 1,402,648 1,480,748
Total investments and advances 75,979 67,773 73,494 77,814 119,897 94,304
Property and equipment, net 54,673 57,060 58,944 63,491 66,613 68,714
Fixed leasehold deposits 7,230 8,244 8,334 9,031 9,191 9,332
Total assets 1,076,594 1,197,432 1,395,821 1,385,254 1,598,349 1,653,098
 Short-term borrowings and current 
 portion of long-term debt 212,081 183,355 243,726 183,777 218,897 235,711
Total current liabilities 319,606 290,588 331,004 276,795 291,406 277,307
Long-term debt 396,800 536,779 571,433 575,439 544,664 586,329
Total long-term liabilities 531,741 690,860 712,781 748,143 552,280 601,305
Total net assets 225,246 215,984 352,036 360,316 754,663 774,486

Other Financial Data and Indicators:
Credit losses written-off ¥ 140,461 ¥ 141,422 ¥ 126,806 ¥ 111,913 ¥ 90,988 ¥ 88,589
Return on equity (ROE) (%) 3.29 (45.76) 1.77 (67.25) 5.36 9.74
Return on assets (ROA) (%) 0.64 (10.02) 0.45 (25.13) 2.52 4.10

Amount per Share (Yen):
Net income (loss):
 Basic ¥ 57.17 ¥ (1,024.85) ¥ 49.55 ¥ (2,956.51) ¥ 313.42 ¥ 521.02
 Diluted 51.15 — — — — 520.87
Shareholders’ equity 1,775.99 1,703.13 2,775.92 2,841.19 5,950.17 5,756.77
Payout ratio (%) 17.49 — 80.73 — 33.50 20.15

Note:  Net income (loss), basic, per share has been restated to conform with International Accounting Standards’ Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 15 (APB-15), “Earnings per Share.”

 



58

Promise Co., Ltd.    Annual Report 2010

Non-Consolidated Balance Sheets
Promise Co., Ltd.    March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010
ASSETS 
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 77,076 ¥ 80,273 $ 819,524 
Time deposits 50 1,050 532 
Consumer loans receivable:
 Principal 855,423 1,016,636 9,095,407 
 Accrued interest income 8,185 9,341 87,026 
Less: Allowance for credit losses (170,523) (206,145) (1,813,110)

693,085 819,832 7,369,323 
Prepaid expenses 463 631 4,922 
Other current assets 168,037 162,569 1,786,682 
   Total current assets 938,711 1,064,355 9,980,983 

Investments and advances:
Long-term deposits 2,500 2,500 26,582 
Investments in securities 9,898 7,163 105,239 
Investments in and advances to subsidiaries and affiliates 56,306 48,817 598,677 
Long-term prepaid expenses 739 1,005 7,853 
Other investments and advances 6,536 8,288 69,511 
   Total investments and advances 75,979 67,773 807,862 

Property and equipment, net 54,673 57,060 581,320 
Fixed leasehold deposits 7,230 8,244 76,869 

   Total assets ¥1,076,594 ¥1,197,432 $11,447,034 

Note:  U.S. dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥94.05 to U.S.$1, the approximate exchange rate at 
March 31, 2010.
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Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt ¥ 212,081 ¥ 183,355 $ 2,254,981 
Accounts payable 17,415 3,828 185,168 
Accrued income taxes 227 272 2,411 
Accruals for debt guarantees 15,797 14,679 167,964 
Accrued expenses 4,774 5,821 50,761 
Allowance for losses on interest repayments 63,000 67,400 669,856 
Allowance for business restructuring expenses 2,500 391 26,582 
Allowance for losses on sales of credit — 10,176 —
Other current liabilities 3,812 4,666 40,535 
   Total current liabilities 319,606 290,588 3,398,258 

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt 396,800 536,779 4,219,034 
Securitized loan liabilities 50,000 — 531,632 
Accrued severance indemnities 4,758 6,881 50,586 
Allowance for losses on interest repayments 79,000 146,900 839,979 
Deferred tax liabilities 827 — 8,794 
Other long-term liabilities 356 300 3,786 
   Total long-term liabilities 531,741 690,860 5,653,811 
   Total liabilities 851,347 981,448 9,052,069 

NET ASSETS
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock:  Authorized—300,000,000 shares
Issued—134,866,665 shares 80,738 80,738 858,455 

Capital surplus 127,333 127,333 1,353,883 
Retained earnings 73,373 66,122 780,148 
Less: Treasury stock—8,051,468 shares (57,425) (57,425) (610,584)
   Total shareholders’ equity 224,018 216,767 2,381,902 

Revaluation and translation adjustments:
Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities 1,206 (783) 12,818 
   Total revaluation and translation adjustments 1,206 (783) 12,818 

Stock acquisition rights 23 — 245 
   Total net assets 225,246 215,984 2,394,965 
   Total liabilities and net assets ¥1,076,594 ¥1,197,432 $11,447,034 
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Non-Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
Promise Co., Ltd.    For the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2010 2009 2010 
Operating income:

Interest on consumer loans ¥169,606 ¥ 210,482 $1,803,360 
Other operating income 43,189 32,577 459,216 
  Total operating income 212,795 243,059 2,262,576 

Operating expenses:
Financial expenses 12,749 13,713 135,554 
General and administrative expenses 93,999 170,357 999,454 
Credit losses including provision for uncollectible loans 94,309 116,122 1,002,750 
  Total operating expenses 201,056 300,192 2,137,758 
  Operating profit (loss) 11,739 (57,133) 124,818 

Other income (expenses):
Interest and dividend income on investments 534 1,467 5,673 
Insurance money received and insurance dividend 145 160 1,539 
Net gain on sales of investments in securities 6 6 68 
Liquidation dividend 503 — 5,353 
Reversal of allowance for credit losses — 549 —
Gain on liquidation of affiliate companies — 113 —
Interest expense (843) (1,309) (8,962)
Fee expense — (500) —
Provision for uncollectible loans (1,102) (1,783) (11,717)
Loss on valuation of investments in securities (0) (3,270) (4)
Net loss on sales or disposal of property and equipment (330) (1,553) (3,504)
Impairment loss (204) (170) (2,171)
Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries (55) (4,340) (582)
Expense for relocation of offices (162) (65) (1,724)
Provision for losses on sales of credit — (10,176) —
Provision for losses on business restructuring expenses (2,500) (391) (26,582)
Loss on business restructuring expenses (61) (1,541) (645)
Loss on support of subsidiaries (718) (340) (7,629)
Loss on sales of shares of affiliates — (8,742) —
Other, net 406 37 4,298 
  Total other expenses, net (4,381) (31,848) (46,589)
  Income (loss) before income taxes 7,358 (88,981) 78,229 

Income taxes:
Current (107) (88) (1,137)
Deferred — (40,900) —

(107) (40,988) (1,137)
  Net income (loss) ¥ 7,251 ¥(129,969) $ 77,093 

Yen U.S. Dollars

Amount per share:
Net income (loss):
 Basic ¥ 57.17 ¥(1,024.85) $0.61
 Diluted 51.15 — 0.54
Cash dividends 10.00 20.00 0.11

Weighted average number of shares (Thousands):
Basic 126,815 126,817 
Diluted 141,728 —

Note:  U.S. dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥94,05 to U.S.$1, the approximate exchange rate at 
March 31, 2010.
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Non-Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Promise Co., Ltd.    For the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009

Millions of Yen

 Shareholders’ equity
Revaluation and 

translation adjustments

Number of
 shares of
 common

stock
Common

stock
Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Total 
shareholders’

equity

Net
unrealized
gain (loss)

on securities

Net
deferred
hedge
losses

Total
revaluation

and
translation

adjustments

Stock 
acquisition 

rights

Total
net

assets

Balance at March 31, 2008 134,866,665 ¥80,738 ¥127,337 ¥ 201,163 ¥(57,424) ¥ 351,814 ¥ 229 ¥(7) ¥ 222 ¥ — ¥ 352,036 
Net loss — — — (129,969) — (129,969) — — — — (129,969)
Cash dividends paid — — — (5,073) — (5,073) — — — — (5,073)
Bonuses to directors  
 and corporate auditors — — — — — — — — — — —
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (6) (6) — — — — (6)
Sales of treasury stock — — (4) — 5 1 — — — — 1 
Changes of items other  
 than shareholders’ equity — — — — — — (1,012) 7 (1,005) — (1,005)

Balance at March 31, 2009 134,866,665 ¥80,738 ¥127,333 ¥ 66,122 ¥(57,425) ¥ 216,767 ¥ (783) ¥— ¥ (783) ¥ — ¥ 215,984 
Net income — — — 7,251 — 7,251 — — — — 7,251 
Cash dividends paid — — — — — — — — — — —
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (0) (0) — — — — (0) 
Increase in stock  
 acquisition rights — — — — — — — — — 23 23 
Changes of items other  
 than shareholders’ equity — — — — — — 1,989 — 1,989 — 1,989 

Balance at March 31, 2010 134,866,665 ¥80,738 ¥127,333 ¥ 73,373 ¥(57,425) ¥ 224,018 ¥ 1,206 ¥— ¥ 1,206 ¥23 ¥ 225,246

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

 Shareholders’ equity
Revaluation and 

translation adjustments

Common
stock

Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Total 
shareholders’

equity

Net
unrealized
gain (loss)

on securities

Net
deferred
hedge
losses

Total
revaluation

and
translation

adjustments

Stock 
acquisition 

rights

Total
net

assets

Balance at March 31, 2009 $858,455 $1,353,883 $703,055 $(610,582) $2,304,811 $ (8,328) $— $ (8,328) $   — $2,296,483 
Net income — — 77,093 — 77,093 — — — — 77,093 
Cash dividends paid — — — — — — — — — —
Purchase of treasury stock — — — (2) (2) — — — — (2)
Increase in stock  
 acquisition rights — — — — — — — — 245 245 
Changes of items other  
 than shareholders’ equity — — — — — 21,146 — 21,146 — 21,146 

Balance at March 31, 2010 $858,455 $1,353,883 $780,148 $(610,584) $2,381,902 $12,818 $— $12,818 $245 $2,394,965 

Note:  U.S. dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥94.05 to U.S.$1, the approximate exchange rate at 
March 31, 2010.
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Non-Consolidated Business Indicators

(¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Consumer loans outstanding 1,295,316 1,193,876 1,143,770 1,016,635 855,423
  Year-on-year growth (%) –2.4 –7.8 –4.2 –11.1 –15.9
 Unsecured loans 1,291,953 1,191,129 1,141,775 1,014,862 853,594
  Year-on-year growth (%) –2.3 –7.8 –4.1 –11.1 –15.9
 Secured loans 3,362 2,747 1,995 1,773 1,828
  Year-on-year growth (%) –17.8 –18.3 –27.4 –11.1 3.1
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1,500

1,000

500

0

(¥ billion)

Consumer Loans Outstanding

(¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Unsecured loans outstanding 1,291,953 1,191,129 1,141,775 1,014,862 853,594
 ¥300,000 or less 115,748 106,349 109,258 102,504 91,398
   More than ¥300,000 

 to ¥500,000 463,785 426,021 424,914 350,819 270,177
   More than ¥500,000 

 to ¥1,000,000 296,354 270,514 249,333 224,970 187,918
   More than ¥1,000,000 

 to ¥3,000,000 416,064 388,243 358,268 336,567 304,100
06 10
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Unsecured Loans Outstanding, by Amount of Account

(¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Unsecured loans outstanding 1,291,953 1,191,129 1,141,775 1,014,862 853,594
 Flat rates
  27.000%–29.200% 20,179 293 23,731 13,256 204
  25.550% 634,922 566,956 479,251 335,530 231,003
  25.000% 53,017 43,346 29,617 20,165 14,308
  24.500% 84,489 76,172 52,227 34,618 24,462
  23.900% 87,386 84,382 60,114 38,893 27,567
  23.500% 38,936 33,882 22,738 14,497 10,205
  22.995% 133,582 112,572 81,953 53,609 38,155
  20.500%–22.500% 121,017 116,651 80,982 50,693 36,706
  18.300%–20.000% 69,706 84,895 70,765 48,239 35,175
  15.500%–18.000% 27,452 39,648 164,494 235,384 259,459
  Less than 15.000% 10,843 26,869 75,606 169,781 175,789
 Loan balance-linked rates
  23.200%–29.200% 3,432 50 25 14 10
  23.725%–25.550% 3,651 2,806 50 19 12
  22.675%–25.550% 3,050 2,391 47 14 8
 Other 283 211 168 141 523
Actual average yield of 
 unsecured loans 22.54 21.86 21.10 19.31 17.94
Notes: 1.  Loan balance-linked rates are applied to unsecured loans according to the amount of the 

loans outstanding.
 2.  Interest rates applicable to new accounts are reduced to 7.900%–17.800% from December 

19,  2007.
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 Kyushu
 Chugoku, Shikoku
 Kinki
 Chubu
 Kanto
 Tohoku
 Hokkaido

(%)

Unsecured Secured

Consumer Loans Outstanding, by Area 
(As of March 31, 2010)

(¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Unsecured loans outstanding 1,291,953 1,191,129 1,141,775 1,014,862 853,594
 Hokkaido 54,438 49,367 45,826 40,052 32,131
 Tohoku 124,112 113,530 103,124 91,018 75,518
 Kanto 478,733 445,057 445,193 382,873 316,951
 Chubu 181,614 168,254 152,709 138,682 116,812
 Kinki 235,953 217,316 207,290 200,734 182,143
 Chugoku, Shikoku 90,812 83,400 85,731 74,637 60,010
 Kyushu 126,288 114,201 101,899 86,863 70,027
Secured loans outstanding 3,362 2,747 1,995 1,773 1,828
 Hokkaido 96 78 71 63 44
 Tohoku 240 178 125 92 73
 Kanto 510 444 341 411 789
 Chubu 232 189 145 121 79
 Kinki 1,674 1,384 1,009 887 702
 Chugoku, Shikoku 395 308 204 145 101
 Kyushu 213 163 97 52 36
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Number of Customers (Thousands)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Number of customers 2,309 2,124 2,115 1,902 1,612
  Year-on-year growth (%) –3.1 –8.0 –0.4 –10.1 –15.2
 Unsecured loans 2,307 2,123 2,114 1,901 1,612
 Secured loans 1 1 0 0 0
Unsecured loans outstanding 
 per customer 559 560 539 533 529

Note:  Unsecured loans outstanding per customer = unsecured loans outstanding (year-end) � 
number of customers (year-end)
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23.9%

Male
Female

All 
customers

New 
customers

Number of Unsecured Loan Customers, by Gender
(As of March 31, 2010)

(Thousands)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
All customers 2,307 2,123 2,114 1,901 1,612
 Male 1,670 1,538 1,521 1,376 1,177
 Female 636 585 593 525 434
New customers 321 250 164 156 148
 Male 230 176 116 113 113
 Female 90 73 48 43 35
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Number of Unsecured Loan New Customers, by Annual Income 
(As of March 31, 2010)

(Thousands)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
New customers 321 250 164 156 148
 Less than ¥2 million 50 38 24 23 21
 ¥2 million to less than ¥3 million 76 60 39 37 36
 ¥3 million to less than ¥4 million 81 63 41 39 38
 ¥4 million to less than ¥5 million 49 38 25 24 23
 ¥5 million to less than ¥6 million 25 19 12 12 11
 ¥6 million to less than ¥7 million 16 12 8 7 7
 ¥7 million or more 21 17 11 11 10

Customers with annual incomes of up to ¥7 million accounted for slightly more than 90% of all 
new customers. Of the 45.8 million private-sector wage earners in Japan, approximately 39.4 
million fall into this income range (National Tax Agency data, 2008).

(Thousands)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
All customers 2,307 2,123 2,114 1,901 1,612
 Age 20–29 462 401 356 299 253
 Age 30–39 665 617 608 543 457
 Age 40–49 480 447 468 432 369
 Age 50–59 450 416 417 371 304
 Age 60 or older 248 240 264 255 226
New customers 321 250 164 156 148
 Age 20–29 135 106 66 60 60
 Age 30–39 80 62 41 40 38
 Age 40–49 53 41 28 28 25
 Age 50–59 39 30 21 20 17
 Age 60 or older 12 8 5 6 5
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Number of Unsecured Loan Branches
2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3

Number of unsecured loan branches 1,474 1,470 1,367 1,554 1,492
 Staffed branches 415 413 306 306 123
 Unstaffed branches 1,059 1,057 1,061 1,248 1,369
Number of automated contract 
 machines 1,466 1,463 1,371 1,582 1,521
Number of loan processing machines 1,013 983 365 206 150
Unsecured loans outstanding 
 per branch 876 810 835 653 572

Notes: 1.  A loan processing machine is a terminal that receives new loan applications, does a tenta-
tive credit evaluation and issues loan cards. Commencing in the year ended March 31, 2004, 
these  terminals are located in commercial areas in major cities and at roadside  locations.

 2.  Unsecured loans outstanding per branch = unsecured loans outstanding (year-end) � 
number of unsecured loan branches (year-end)
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Hokkaido
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Number of Unsecured Loan Branches, by Area 
(As of March 31, 2010) 2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3

Number of unsecured loan branches 1,474 1,470 1,367 1,554 1,492
 Hokkaido 72 71 64 72 70
 Tohoku 141 141 128 152 142
 Kanto 443 440 403 440 428
 Chubu 245 245 232 268 257
 Kinki 252 252 233 256 250
 Chugoku, Shikoku 130 128 125 134 127
 Kyushu 191 193 182 232 218
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Promise ATMs Tie-up CDs and ATMs
Commercial finance institutions
Sales finance (shinpan) 
companies
Distributor-affiliated credit 
card companies
Other

Number of Channels
2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3

Number of channels 110,456 112,372 116,620 122,091 125,608
 Promise ATMs 1,694 1,682 1,569 1,737 1,516
 Tie-up CDs and ATMs 108,762 110,690 115,051 120,354 124,092
   Commercial finance 

 institutions 104,688 107,663 112,797 119,384 123,245
   Sales finance (shinpan) 

 companies 797 509 259 60 18
    Distributor-affiliated credit 

 card companies 2,961 2,202 994 617 544
  Other 316 316 1,001 293 285
 Intermediaries:
  Convenience stores* 15,661 15,397 15,732 16,017 16,413

*  Started tie-ups with FamilyMart Co., Ltd. on September 1998; with LAWSON, INC. on August 2001; 
and-with Three F Co., Ltd. on March 2002. In February 2007, we closed tie-ups with Three F.
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Net income (loss) per employee

(¥ thousand)

Per Employee Data

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Number of employees 3,582 3,544 3,339 2,911 2,277 
 Male 1,824 1,789 1,862 1,664 1,367 
 Female 1,758 1,755 1,477 1,247 910 
Loans outstanding per employee 
 (¥ million) 361 336 342 349 376 
Net income (loss) per employee 
 (¥ thousand) 11,444 (105,795) 1,882 (44,647) 3,184 

Notes: 1. Part-time, temporary and seconded employees are not included in the above figures.
 2.  Loans outstanding per employee = consumer loans outstanding (year-end) � number 

of-employees (year-end)
 3.  Net income (loss) per employee = non-consolidated net income � number of employees 

(year-end)

At March 31, 2010, the average age of employees was 35.9 years (37.8 for males and 33.1 for 
females), while the average period of continuous service was 12.1 years (14.2 for males and 
9.1 for females).
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Loan Losses (¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Consumer loans outstanding 1,295,316 1,193,876 1,143,770 1,016,635 855,423
Loan losses 90,659 105,266 116,466 125,516 120,897
 Unsecured loans 90,462 105,027 116,306 125,367 120,711
 Secured loans 196 239 159 149 185
Loan loss ratio (%) 7.00 8.82 10.18 12.35 14.13
Credit losses including provision 
 for uncollectible loans 92,809 205,172 74,538 108,202 85,460
  Provision for uncollectible 

 loans 92,809 199,128 74,538 108,202 85,460
 Credit losses — 6,043 — — —
Collection of written-off loans 4,495 4,452 4,336 4,368 5,243

Note:  Commencing in the year ended March 31, 2006, expenses for adjusted installment payments 
and claims for indemnities are being included in credit losses including provision for uncollect-
ible loans on the income  statement. However, in the above figures these expenses have been 
removed.
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Credits of bankrupt borrowers
Delinquent loans
Delinquent loans three months or more 
past the due date
Restructured loans
Non-performing loans ratio (%) 

Non-Performing Loans (¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Consumer loans outstanding 1,295,316 1,193,876 1,143,770 1,016,635 855,423
Non-performing loans 72,496 81,789 102,292 94,400 73,326
Non-performing loans ratio (%) 5.60 6.85 8.94 9.29 8.57
 Credits of bankrupt borrowers 695 492 465 1,725 450
 Delinquent loans 90 76 4,790 4,555 2,737
  Delinquent loans three 

  months or more past 
the due date 10,964 14,292 18,673 17,016 13,405

 Restructured loans 60,745 66,927 78,363 71,103 56,732
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Guaranteed Loans Outstanding (¥ million)

2006/3 2007/3 2008/3 2009/3 2010/3
Guaranteed loans outstanding  163,599 281,385 387,399 453,666 487,778
  Guaranteed loans to 

 consolidated subsidiary  86,056 123,180 126,956 118,251 105,542

Note:  In the year ended March 31, 2006, Promise’s guaranteed loans outstanding rose substantially 
due to its new joint consumer finance business with Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation and 
At-Loan Co., Ltd.
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Promise’s Bond Issues 
 (As of March 31, 2010)

Type Date Issued
Face Amount

(¥ million) Maturity Date
Coupon Rate

(%) Rating Purpose

Straight bonds May 31, 2000 10,000 Jun. 1, 2012 2.90 AA– 
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Jul. 31, 2002 10,000 Jul. 30, 2010 2.29 AA– 
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Jun. 4, 2003 15,000 Jun. 4, 2013 1.37 A+
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Apr. 21, 2004 10,000 Apr. 21, 2014 2.10 A+ 
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Apr. 20, 2005 10,000 Apr. 20, 2010 0.79 A+ 
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Nov. 28, 2005 10,000 Nov. 28, 2011 1.38 A+ 
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Dec. 19, 2006 10,000 Dec. 17, 2010 1.70 A+
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Dec. 19, 2006 10,000 Dec. 19, 2011 1.93 A+
A

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Feb. 16, 2007 20,000 Feb. 15, 2013 2.05 A2
A
A

(Moody’s)
(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Mar. 23, 2007 20,000 Mar. 20, 2014 2.06 A2
A
A

(Moody’s)
(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Apr. 19, 2007 20,000 Apr. 19, 2011 1.63 A2
A
A

(Moody’s)
(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

U.S. dollar 
 straight bonds

Jun. 13, 2007 0.5 billion
 U.S. dollar

Jun. 13, 2012 5.95 Consumer loans funding

Straight bonds Oct. 11, 2007 20,000 Oct. 11, 2013 2.74 A2
A
A

(Moody’s)
(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Convertible bonds Jul. 24, 2008 42,000 Jul. 24, 2015 0.00 Conversion value: 
 ¥2,820 per share

Straight bonds Apr. 30, 2010 10,000 Apr. 30, 2015 3.50 A–
BBB+

(JCR)
(R&I)

Consumer loans funding

Note:  Ratings are those published by JCR (Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd.), R&I (Rating and Investment Information, Inc.) and Moody’s Japan K.K. and are 
as of the respective date issued.

Ratings of Promise (As of July 31, 2010)

Long-Term Bond Short-Term Bond
Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. A– J-1
Rating and Investment Information, Inc. BBB+ a-2
Moody’s Japan K.K. Ba1 —
STANDARD & POOR’S BBB– A-3
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Industry Data 

New Consumer Credit, by Type of Lender
(¥100 million / %)

2004/12 YOY 2005/12 YOY 2006/12 YOY 2007/12 YOY 2008/12 YOY
Consumer credit 741,417 1.5 765,056 3.2 753,439 –1.5 759,850 0.9 744,468 –2.0
 Sales on credit 401,945 6.0 430,347 7.1 449,856 4.5 478,358 6.3 506,955 6.0
 Consumer finance 339,472 –3.2 334,709 –1.4 303,583 –9.3 281,492 –7.3 237,513 –15.6
  Consumer loans 237,650 –0.2 245,263 3.2 218,863 –10.8 197,059 –10.0 157,446 –20.1
    Commercial finance institutions 33,005 –16.4 40,458 22.6 26,364 –34.8 24,440 –7.3 24,282 –0.6
    Consumer finance companies

 (including Promise) 102,845 5.5 104,194 1.3 92,703 –11.0 82,635 –10.9 58,036 –29.8
    Sales finance (Shinpan) companies 43,209 –0.5 36,682 –15.1 35,888 –2.2 30,667 –14.5 25,453 –17.0
    Bank-affiliated credit card companies 30,022 –1.0 33,696 12.2 31,822 –5.6 28,692 –9.8 22,358 –22.1
    Distributor-affiliated credit card companies 19,231 8.4 20,553 6.9 22,553 9.7 22,301 –1.1 21,661 –2.9
   Others 9,338 –3.7 9,680 3.7 9,533 –1.5 8,324 –12.7 5,656 –32.1
Note: “YOY” stands for year-on-year percentage increase or decrease.
Source: Japan Credit Industry Association, Japan Credit Industry Statistics 2010

Consumer Credit Outstanding, by Type of Lender
(¥100 million / %)

2004/12 YOY 2005/12 YOY 2006/12 YOY 2007/12 YOY 2008/12 YOY
Consumer credit 582,415 –2.1 559,394 –4.0 539,659 –3.5 519,272 –3.8 499,632 –3.8
 Sales on credit 147,711 –0.4 150,394 1.8 148,964 –1.0 150,256 0.9 149,154 –0.7
 Consumer finance 434,704 –2.7 409,000 –5.9 390,695 –4.5 369,016 –5.5 350,478 –5.0
  Consumer loans 344,999 –0.4 330,471 –4.2 315,477 –4.5 294,078 –6.8 280,050 –4.8
    Commercial finance institutions 176,795 –1.2 166,273 –6.0 159,984 –3.8 151,338 –5.4 157,144 3.8
    Consumer finance companies

 (including Promise) 101,571 –0.2 98,862 –2.7 92,107 –6.8 80,536 –12.6 65,354 –18.9
    Sales finance (Shinpan) companies 39,696 –1.5 34,871 –12.2 33,073 –5.2 31,696 –4.2 28,938 –8.7
    Bank-affiliated credit card companies 9,964 4.5 12,279 23.2 11,374 –7.4 11,207 –1.5 10,294 –8.1
    Distributor-affiliated credit card companies 11,283 10.9 12,378 9.7 13,011 5.1 13,517 3.9 13,103 –3.1
   Others 5,690 –1.1 5,808 2.1 5,928 2.1 5,784 –2.4 5,217 –9.8
Note: “YOY” stands for year-on-year percentage increase or decrease.
Source: Japan Credit Industry Association, Japan Credit Industry Statistics 2010

04 05 06 07 08

40

30

20

10

0

(¥ trillion)

Others
Distributor-affiliated credit card companies
Bank-affiliated credit card companies
Sales finance (Shinpan) companies
Consumer finance companies (including Promise)
Commercial finance institutions

New Consumer Credit, 
by Type of Lender: Consumer Loans

04 05 06 07 08

40

30

20

10

0

(¥ trillion)

Others
Distributor-affiliated credit card companies
Bank-affiliated credit card companies
Sales finance (Shinpan) companies
Consumer finance companies (including Promise)
Commercial finance institutions

Consumer Credit Outstanding, 
by Type of Lender: Consumer Loans

15 major consumer finance companies: 
Companies more than ¥50 billion 
in consumer loans outstanding 
Aiful, Acom, Promise, and Takefuji

Total
consumer 

loans 
outstanding: 
(¥7.3 trillion)

69.3%
(¥5.1 trillion)

91.3%
(¥6.6 trillion)

Consumer Finance Industry Oligopoly 
(As of March 31, 2009)
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Applications for Personal Bankruptcy (Nationwide)
(%)

2006/3 YOY 2007/3 YOY 2008/3 YOY 2009/3 YOY 2010/3 YOY
April 16,522 –16.2 14,302 –13.4 12,737 –10.9 11,784 –7.5 11,475 –2.6
May 14,126 –10.6 13,295 –5.9 12,404 –6.7 10,705 –13.7 9,371 –12.5
June 17,193 –7.9 15,087 –12.2 13,354 –11.5 11,217 –16.0 11,743 4.7
July 15,614 –12.5 13,494 –13.6 12,598 –6.6 11,968 –5.0 11,813 –1.3
August 15,523 –4.2 13,600 –12.4 12,059 –11.3 9,613 –20.3 9,922 3.2
September 15,250 –7.7 13,486 –11.6 10,862 –19.5 10,347 –4.7 10,228 –1.2
October 15,141 –8.5 14,041 –7.3 13,194 –6.0 11,396 –13.6 11,195 –1.8
November 15,291 –7.5 13,053 –14.6 12,284 –5.9 9,395 –23.5 10,112 7.6
December 16,361 –17.5 14,720 –10.0 13,219 –10.2 11,847 –10.4 11,821 –0.2
January 10,479 –3.5 9,381 –10.5 8,211 –12.5 7,533 –8.3 7,601 0.9
February 14,359 –0.4 12,432 –13.4 11,184 –10.0 9,811 –12.3 9,695 –1.2
March 16,001 –11.1 13,728 –14.2 11,841 –13.7 11,241 –5.1 11,833 5.3
Total 181,860 –9.5 160,619 –11.7 143,947 –10.4 126,857 –11.9 126,809 0.0
Note: “YOY” stands for year-on-year percentage increase or decrease.
Source: The Supreme Court

Applications by Individuals for Civil Rehabilitation (Nationwide)
(%)

2006/3 YOY 2007/3 YOY 2008/3 YOY 2009/3 YOY 2010/3 YOY
April 2,235 –5.4 2,060 –7.8 2,348 14.0 2,180 –7.2 1,812 –16.9
May 1,959 1.4 2,029 3.6 2,327 14.7 2,055 –11.7 1,503 –26.9
June 2,375 –3.2 2,370 –0.2 2,524 6.5 2,086 –17.4 1,914 –8.2
July 2,240 –2.6 2,114 –5.6 2,434 15.1 2,142 –12.0 1,938 –9.5
August 2,183 4.3 2,140 –2.0 2,303 7.6 1,739 –24.5 1,608 –7.5
September 2,111 1.4 2,127 0.8 2,147 0.9 1,931 –10.1 1,640 –15.1
October 2,160 0.3 2,264 4.8 2,374 4.9 2,122 –10.6 1,873 –11.7
November 2,180 –3.2 2,256 3.5 2,437 8.0 1,744 –28.4 1,602 –8.1
December 2,533 –2.2 2,783 9.9 2,535 –8.9 2,050 –19.1 2,151 4.9
January 1,503 –1.4 1,586 5.5 1,587 0.1 1,290 –18.7 1,259 –2.4
February 2,095 1.4 2,220 6.0 2,202 –0.8 1,581 –28.2 1,513 –4.3
March 2,372 –4.4 2,441 2.9 2,214 –9.3 1,819 –17.8 1,789 –1.6
Total 25,946 –1.3 26,390 1.7 27,432 3.9 22,739 –17.1 20,602 –9.4
Note: “YOY” stands for year-on-year percentage increase or decrease.
Source: The Supreme Court

Number of Salary Earners, by Annual Income
(Thousands / %)

2004/12 % 2005/12 % 2006/12 % 2007/12 % 2008/12 %
¥2 million or less 9,632 21.6 9,812 21.8 10,228 22.8 10,323 22.7 10,675 23.3
More than ¥2 million to ¥3 million 7,031 15.8 7,104 15.8 7,180 16.0 7,195 15.8 7,520 16.4
More than ¥3 million to ¥4 million 7,569 17.0 7,715 17.2 7,562 16.9 7,593 16.7 7,771 16.9
More than ¥4 million to ¥5 million 6,418 14.4 6,389 14.2 6,250 13.9 6,313 13.9 6,300 13.7
More than ¥5 million to ¥6 million 4,479 10.1 4,520 10.1 4,313 9.6 4,385 9.7 4,347 9.5
More than ¥6 million to ¥7 million 2,863 6.4 2,875 6.4 2,859 6.4 2,931 6.5 2,811 6.1
More than ¥7 million 6,539 14.7 6,521 14.5 6,454 14.4 6,684 14.7 6,449 14.1
Total 44,530 100.0 44,936 100.0 44,845 100.0 45,425 100.0 45,873 100.0
Note: “%” figures refer to percentage distribution.
Source: National Tax Agency
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Consolidated Subsidiaries

Name Location Capital Principal business
Percentage of 
voting rights Notes

SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE CO., LTD.
Hakata-ku, Fukuoka City
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo

¥16,268
million

Consumer fi nance
100.0

(100.0)
1, 3

At-Loan Co., Ltd. Minato-ku, Tokyo
¥10,912
million 

Consumer fi nance 50.0 1

POCKET CARD CO., LTD. Minato-ku, Tokyo
¥11,268
million 

Credit card
42.0 

(42.0)
1, 3, 4

POCKET DIRECT CO., LTD. Minato-ku, Tokyo
¥40

million
Insurance brokerage, catalog sales

42.0
(42.0)

3, 4

Do Financial Service Co., Ltd. Minato-ku, Tokyo
¥5,000
million 

Sales fi nance 100.0

AZ Card Co., Ltd.
Hakata-ku, Fukuoka 
City

¥400
million 

Credit card
66.0 

(66.0)
3

PAL Servicer Co., Ltd. Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
¥500

million 
Loan management and collection 100.0

Sanyo Shinpan Servicer Co., Ltd. Minato-ku, Tokyo
¥500

million 
Loan management and collection 100.0

PAL Life Co., Ltd. Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
¥3,000
million 

Management of leased real estate 100.0

Net Future Co., Ltd. Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
¥390

million 
Telemarketing, ATM management / 
administration, and system development

100.0

Car Conveni Club Co., Ltd. Chuo-ku, Tokyo
¥10

million
Car maintenance and sheet metal painting

100.0
(100.0)

3

Asahi Enterprise Co., Ltd. Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
¥63

million 
Investment in SANYO SHINPAN FINANCE 
CO., LTD.

100.0

PROMISE (HONG KONG) CO., LTD. Hong Kong, China
HK$45
million 

Consumer fi nance 100.0

Liang Jing Co., Ltd. Taipei, Taiwan
NT$290
million 

Loan management and collection 100.0

PROMISE (THAILAND) CO., LTD. Bangkok, Thailand
THB1,000

million 
Consumer fi nance 100.0

Equity-Method Affi liated Company

Name Location Capital Principal business
Percentage of 
voting rights Notes

MOBIT CO., LTD. Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo
¥20,000
million

Consumer fi nance
50.0
(5.0)

2, 3

Notes: 1. Special subsidiary
 2. Jointly controlled company
 3. The fi gure in parentheses under “Percentage of voting rights” represents the percentage of indirectly owned voting rights. 
 4. Categorized as a subsidiary even though ownership does not exceed 50% because the Promise Group has effective control.
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Corporate Information 

(As of March 31, 2010)

Corporate Data 

Head Office:  1-2-4, Otemachi, Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo 100-0004, Japan
Tel: +81-3-3287-1515

Date of Establishment: March 20, 1962
Fiscal Year: April 1 to March 31
Paid-in Capital: ¥80,738 million
Number of Employees: 2,277

 

Auditor: Toyo Horwath
Listing: First Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange
Website:  Corporate

http://www.promise.co.jp/english/corporate/
  Investor Relations

http://www.promise.co.jp/english/ir/

Shareholder and Investor Information 

Common Stock: Authorized: 300,000,000 shares
 Issued: 134,866,665 shares
Number of Shareholders: 15,439
Administrator of Shareholders’ Register:  The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Company, Limited

4-5-33, Kitahama, Chuo-ku, Osaka 541-0041, Japan
Principal Shareholders:

(Thousands / %)
Name Shareholdings Percent of Total Shares Issued

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 27,926 20.71

Yumiko Jinnai 8,644 6.41

STATE STREET BANK CLIENT OMNIBUS OM04 6,422 4.76

NORTHERN TRUST CO. (AVFC) SUB A/C AMERICAN CLIENTS 4,423 3.28

Ryoichi Jinnai 4,000 2.97

The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Company, Limited 4,000 2.97

CHACE MANHATTAN BANK GTS CLIENTS ACCOUNT ESCROW 3,459 2.56

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 3,335 2.47

MOXLEY AND COMPANY 3,172 2.35

BARCLAYS BANK PLC SUB-ACCOUNT BARCLAYS CAPITAL SECURITIES LIMITED SBL/PB 3,059 2.27

Total 68,443 50.75

Notes: 1.  Promise holds 8,051 thousand shares of treasury stock. These shares are not included in the above list of principal shareholders.
 2.  The shares held by The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Company, Limited include 3,600 thousand shares that have been entrusted to Japan Trustee 

Services Bank, Ltd. in connection with an employee retirement benefit trust.
 3.  The above list of principal shareholders does not include the following effective shareholdings for which Promise has received notices through 

the  submission of large shareholding reports and notices of changes in large shareholding reports but was unable to confirm as of March 31, 
2010.

(Thousands / %)
Name Number of Shares Held Percent of Shares Held

Fidelity Investments Japan Limited 4,665 3.46

Fidelity Management and Research LLC (FMR LLC) 11,920 8.84

Templeton Investment Counsel, LLC 1,266 0.94

Franklin Templeton Investment Management Limited 1,461 1.08

Franklin Templeton Investments Corp. 2,918 2.16

Barclays Global Investors 725 0.54

Barclays Global Investors, N.A. 432 0.32

Barclays Global Investors Ltd 368 0.27

Barclays Capital Securities Limited 2,912 2.16

Barclays Capital Japan Ltd. 295 0.22

Barclays Capital Inc. 81 0.06

Platinum Investment Management Limited 8,409 6.24

 4. The figures in Number of Shareholders have been rounded off to thousands of shares.
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